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Friday, October 30, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.  Good morning.  


Good morning, everyone.  My name is Emad Elsayed.  With me on the Panel is Board Member and Vice-Chair Ken Quesnelle and Board Member Ellen Fry. 


The OEB sits today on the matter of an application filed by B2M Limited Partnership with the OEB on March 30, 2015 seeking approval for changes to its electricity transmission revenue requirement for five years, to be effective January 1, 2015, and each year thereafter to December 31, 2019.  


The OEB assigned this application File No. EB- 2015-0026.  The record sets out the various procedural steps that have taken place so far, which included interrogatories to B2M, a technical conference and approved issues list, and a settlement conference.  The parties to the settlement conference, which was held on August 11, 2015, were B2M, the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, or CME, the Society of Energy Professionals, or SEP, and OEB Staff.  


The OEB was informed by B2M on August 14, 2015 that no settlement was reached by the participants in the settlement conference.  However, B2M informed the OEB that, out of the 16 issues on the approved issues list, six were identified by one or more of the parties as requiring additional information and that an oral cross-examination would be an efficient way to put this information on the record.  


B2M also informed the OEB that all parties agreed that there was no need for further evidence on the remaining 10 issues and that disputes with respect to these issues, if any, can be addressed through argument either following the conclusion of cross-examination or in writing.  


The OEB issued Procedural Order No. 4 on August 27, 2015, agreeing with the parties' proposal and setting a date for this oral hearing.  


The purpose of this hearing is to provide an opportunity for the interested parties to cross-examine B2M on the identified six issues on the approved issues list; namely, issues 1.2, 2.1, 2.2, 3.1, 5.5, and 6.1. 


Following that, according to the hearing schedule, argument in-chief from B2M and submissions from other parties will be heard today, and B2M may choose to provide its reply argument in writing on a date to be determined.  


May I have appearances, please?  
Appearances:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  Good morning, sir.  My name is Donald Rogers, and I'm the counsel to the applicant.  With me to my left is Mr. Alex Monem, who is co-counsel in the case.  Mr. Monem advises the Saugeen Ojibway Nation Financing Corp. and is co-counsel with me today.  To my right is Mr. Al Cowan, who is director of major applications for Hydro One, and to his right is Ms. Nicole Taylor, who is a regulatory adviser and who is in charge of the computer this morning.  


I have a panel of five witnesses which I will introduce in due course. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, everyone.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  It is Emma Blanchard, counsel for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  


MR. DUMKA:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  I'm Bohdan Dumka.  I'm here representing the Society of Energy Professionals.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  


MS. VARJACIC:  Good morning, Anita Varjacic.  I'm here with B2M as well as counsel. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.


MS. LEA:  And I'm Jennifer Lea representing Board Staff, and with me are Jane Scott and Harold Thiessen.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.


So perhaps, Mr. Rogers, perhaps you can introduce your witnesses, and then we can affirm them.  


MR. ROGERS:  Well, unless you would like to affirm them first and then I will qualify them -- 


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Well, why don't we do that? 


MR. ROGERS:  That would be more efficient, I think, sir. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  Go ahead.


MS. FRY:  Good morning, panel members.  If you could please stand up.
B2M LP - PANEL 1


Ms. G. Baragetti,


Mr. C. Salter,


Mr. R. Kahgee,


Mr. J. Smith,


Mr. M. Penstone, Affirmed

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  
Examination-in-Chief by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Now, perhaps --


DR. ELSAYED:  Go ahead.


MR. ROGERS:  -- I could introduce each of the witnesses --


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please.


MR. ROGERS:  -- to you, sir.  Beginning at the far left, we have Ms. Giovanna Baragetti?


MS. BARAGETTI:  Close enough.  


MR. ROGERS:  Close enough.  Ms. Baragetti, your curriculum vitae has been filed as Exhibit A, tab 15, Schedule 2, page 1 of 5.  Is that an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  I understand -- pardon?  Oh.  It's a logistical problem with a big panel.  Could we share the microphone?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  I will remind you to speak into the microphone.


Just very briefly, I see from your curriculum vitae that you are a chartered professional accountant by occupation?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  You started your career some time ago at PricewaterhouseCoopers? 


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  Then worked in private enterprise with SNC Lavalin Inc. --

MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  -- as director of Canadian tax for that company -- 


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  -- back in 2000 -- 2005 and 2007.  Then worked for Magna International as director of tax for Canada and Latin America? 


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  And your present position, until recently with B2M, is that you worked with Hydro One Networks Inc. as vice-president of corporate tax; is that right?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  And I understand that you are a trustee of the applicant, B2M Trust, in this case?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  You're prepared to answer questions dealing with taxation issues in this case?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  


Now, next we have Mr. Colin Salter.  Mr. Salter, I see that you are a lawyer by profession?  


MR. SALTER:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  A graduate of the Osgoode Hall Law School, and you're presently a partner with the firm of Pape Salter Teillet LLP? 


MR. SALTER:  Teillet, yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  Your role here, as I understand it, you are a legal adviser to the Saugeen Nation during the evolution of this project?  


MR. SALTER:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  And you can answer questions today about the costs incurred that are being claimed here as part of the start-up costs. 


MR. SALTER:  Yes, I can. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  


And to your left we have Mr. Randall Kahgee.  


MR. KAHGEE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  I understand, sir, that you also are a lawyer by profession? 


MR. KAHGEE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  And you're a graduate of the University of Toronto law school back in 2000?


MR. KAHGEE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  And you have practised law, among other things, in your career since then?


MR. KAHGEE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  I understand, as well, that you were a chief of the Chippewas of Saugeen First Nation from 2006 to 2014. 


MR. KAHGEE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  We filed your curriculum vitae in this case.  It is an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience, I do believe?  


MR. KAHGEE:  It is. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  And I understand, sir, that today we're going to have a little bit of evidence-in-chief from you to explain to the Board some of the background, and then you will be prepared to answer questions about the evolution of this project from your constituency's point of view.  


MR. KAHGEE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  


Next we have Mr. Jeffrey Smith.  Mr. Smith, your curriculum vitae has been filed as Exhibit A -- I should know better -- Exhibit A, tab 15, Schedule 2, page 5 of 5.  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  You have testified before this Board before, sir?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is director of business performance, corporate and regulatory affairs with Hydro One?  

MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  You hold a master of business administration degree from the University of Western Ontario, Ivey School of Business? 


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  You have been employed in various capacities with Hydro One or its predecessors, from about 2000 up to the present time, in various positions of authority?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  Now, sir, could you tell us what areas of the application will you be responding to this morning?  


MR. SMITH:  In a nutshell, most of the numbers and the details behind the costs, both in terms of the incremental and the start-up costs.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  


Finally, we have Mr. Michael Penstone.  Make sure your microphone is on.  Thank you.  


Mr. Penstone, your CV has been filed as Exhibit A, tab 15, Schedule 2, page 3 of 5.  Is it an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?  


MR. PENSTONE:  It is. 


MR. ROGERS:  You hold a bachelor of applied science in electrical engineering from McMaster University, I understand. 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  And you have been employed in the electricity business, and in particular with Hydro One, for many years, beginning way back in 1979, I see?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Thanks for emphasizing the "way back," but that's correct. 


[Laughter] 


MR. ROGERS:  Everything is relative. 


MS. LEA:  Yes, Mr. Rogers. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.  Your present position is managing director of B2M GP Inc.?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Which is the applicant in this case?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, one of the principals. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be responding to this morning?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I am accountable for the day-to-day operations of B2M LP, and I will respond to questions or issues surrounding its ongoing operations and maintenance. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much, sir.  


Now, with that introduction, sir, I would like -- there is one exhibit I thought we might file at the beginning, which I am going to ask the witnesses to explain to you, which shows the timeline of the various costs which were incurred in this case.  


I thought it might be of use.  Ms. Lea and I spoke about this the other day, and we put together this timeline.  I think copies are before you, sir.


Could we give this an exhibit number? 


MS. LEA:  Yes, we will mark it as Exhibit J1.1. 
EXHIBIT NO. j1.1:  B2M LP sequence of events.  


MR. ROGERS:  Now, if I might, sir, I would like to have a very brief testimony-in-chief from Mr. Kahgee, just explaining some of the background here.  


Just so you know, we did circulate what we call a will-say statement yesterday so that people are aware generally of what is going to be covered here today.  It shouldn't take too long, and I hope it will be of help for the Board in understanding some of the history. 


DR. ELSAYED:  That's fine.  Please go ahead. 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Kahgee, can you just tell us, please, what your first involvement was with this case and how it came about?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Yes, I can.  First, I would like to acknowledge the Creator for giving us this day, our Elders and our youth, and acknowledge the leadership from both communities that is in the audience today. 


I would also like to say Chi Miigwetch to the Mississaugas of New Credit for allowing us to conduct this hearing in their traditional territory. 


Prior to my role as legal counsel to the Saugeen Ojibway Nation, I was chief of the Saugeen First Nation from 2006 to 2014, and during the entire period in which this partnership was reached.  


Prior to that, I was counsel to Saugeen, and I am currently legal adviser to the Saugeen Ojibway Nations on the resolution of legacy issues with respect to the nuclear operations within their traditional territory.  


 MR. ROGERS:  Could you help us understand when the SON -- I will refer to that acronym, if I might -- first became involved in this project?

MR. KAHGEE:  We first learned of this project approximately in 2006.  At that time, it was largely with respect to the A in the proposed project which was the Bruce-to-Milton line, and that is when we first learned about it.  


MR. ROGERS:  What was it that got you interested and felt it was an important issue for you to become involved with?


MR. KAHGEE:  Well, there was a number of things.  One, it was a new project within the territory.


Second, this was in and around the same time that Ontario was introducing their integrated power supply plan, the IPSP, which fundamentally opened up our territory to a tremendous amount of expansion with respect to a range of different projects in a territory.


And what became very clear is that the Bruce-to-Milton line was essentially the catalyst for all of that.  And we quickly became engaged and wanted to look at how the best  -- first and foremost, how to best to protect SON's rights and interests. 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Could you just explain to the Board how it is that you became involved with Hydro One in the early days?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Well, we engaged -- to Hydro One's credit, they engaged early and often.  As I said initially, it was around the EA, but as it became clear that there was more at stake, the scope of our engagement became much more intensified. 


That eventually led to a protocol agreement, which we arrived at in approximately 2008, which set the course for our role, not only in review of that project but making sure we had the necessary capacity to participate in that process meaningfully. 


MR. ROGERS:  Just back then, in 2007 and 2008, was there any precedent for this type of arrangement?  


MR. KAHGEE:  No, there wasn't.  I think through every step of this process, including with the protocol in those early days, we were breaking new ground, and it was relatively new. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Now, of course, at some point there was a Section 92 application for this transmission line.  What role did your constituency take in that process?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Predominantly, with respect to the Section 92 application, our primary concern was, again, first and foremost, protection of our rights and interests in our territory. 


As I said earlier, we were looking at perhaps the largest scale, what really seemed like another phase of industrialization in our territory, and no one was really coming to talk to us about that and clarifying, first and foremost, what our role was going to be in looking at those projects, being able to analyze those projects and, first and foremost, making sure what matters most to us was being protected, let alone even having dialogue with us about how we could meaningfully participate in those types of projects. 


MR. ROGERS:  Did you take part in the Section 92 application?


MR. KAHGEE:  Yes, we did.  We were very active through that. 


MR. ROGERS:  Now, following that hearing, help us understand what the subsequent engagement was with Hydro One leading us here today.  


MR. KAHGEE:  Well, after the -- after the Section 92 hearing, we focused a lot of our efforts on engagement with Ontario, first and foremost, to try and get a better sense for how we were going to achieve those protections that were so important to our people and to our territory.  


We were eventually successful in securing an accommodation agreement with Ontario that set out special protections for the territory, clearly set out what the process would be for our engagement in that, and also making it very clear there was an expectation that SON would meaningfully participate, if they chose, in those types of developments within the territory. 


MR. ROGERS:  Now this arrangement, this accommodation agreement was with the province, I gather, was it?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Yes, it was. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Following the Board's leave-to-construct decision, what happened then between you and Hydro One?  


MR. KAHGEE:  At the same time we were meeting with Hydro One, I believe both parties recognized the importance of SON's role in being able to meaningfully participate in that project.  We knew that, under certain conditions, the project didn't present necessarily any risk but, first and foremost, was securing those protections which we were able to do through the accommodation agreement with Ontario.  We quickly began to focus our efforts on what meaningfully participation looked like in the context of a project like this. 


MR. ROGERS:  So this concept of partnership, I take it, was something within your contemplation and Hydro One's contemplation some years back in the development of this project?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Well, certainly after the hearing we became more focused on that particular piece.  


One of the things that SON was not particularly interested in was something that would be perceived as --how should I say? -- money to get out of the way, so to speak, or a typical IBA. 


We were more interested in what is the best way to achieve meaningful participation for the life of the project to make sure that our people and our communities derived a sustainable benefit from a project like this over the life of the project.  And we quickly realized that partnership was the best way to secure that.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Now, back then -- what time frame would this be when the partnership started to be discussed?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Shortly after the hearings and certainly with more intensified focus in around 2011, 2012.  


MR. ROGERS:  Help us, sir:  To your knowledge was there any -- had this been done before in Ontario?  


MR. KAHGEE:  No.  This was a first.  To my knowledge, there was no partnerships of this kind.  Certainly it was a first for Hydro One.  It was a first in terms of Ontario looking at what this would be.  It was a first for the ALGP, and I think one of only two communities that have gone through the ALGB (sic) process. 


So we knew all along the way that we were breaking new ground.  There was no playbook that we could refer to that says, "This is how this is done," and we knew we were first out of the gate. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


Tell us, now, what is the significance of this partnership to SON?  


MR. KAHGEE:  I truly believe this reflects -- this is an example of how these things need to be done.  I'm reminded of my good friend and the late chief Ralph Akiwenzie, who, in fact, made this statement during our engagement with Hydro One.  He said, "We will not be beggars in our own land.  Gone are the days where we are left on the outside, on the outside, excluded, looking in on our territory from these types of projects."  "Those days are done," he said, "and we will no longer be beggars in our own land."  He very much believed we should be benefiting from these types of projects and developments in our territories. 


And, in many ways, I think it is a modern reflection of that reconciliation that needs to happen in our territories.  I think we tend to think of our communities as museum pieces and that we're limited to our abilities to hunt, trap, and fish.  Don't get me wrong; those are very much a part of who we are, but that relationship to our territories should be allowed to take a natural expression. 


And I think this is a reflection of that, and I think the significance of this partnership for our community, this is something, when I think about my children and my grandchildren, I know that they will look at that and say, "This is something we will continue to derive a benefit from."  And it is a reflection of how these types of things should be done when corporations such as Hydro One are choosing or looking to operate within First Nations' territories.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Could you explain to the Board what kind of challenges this has presented for the SON, this new approach?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Well, certainly, you know, it was -- in the early days it was -- I would be lying to say if it wasn't a scary notion, the prospect of how we are going to be partners, but more importantly, how are we going to secure $72 million?  


MR. ROGERS:  Which was the amount of equity that you had to inject into the project?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Yes, that's correct.  And one -- understanding that from kind of a conceptual standpoint but also understanding it from a technical perspective and, first and foremost, having the confidence and certainty in doing something like that, not only at the leadership level, but at the community level as well, and making sure that everyone understood the dynamics of a partnership like this. 


MR. ROGERS:  What kind of effort was required in order to explain it to your people?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Well, I think there was -- first and foremost, we had to spend a lot of time with leadership, getting leadership comfortable and understanding the concept and the dynamics of a partnership like this.  Our staff -- and certainly at the community level there was a lot of engagement there, making sure that information was out and understanding that. 


I think even today those efforts are still continuing, because there's still questions about a partnership like this.  And that is to be expected.  It is a complex situation, and it is new.  And it will take time for that understanding to fully be there.  


MR. ROGERS:  So it is an ongoing process, is it?  


MR. KAHGEE:  That's correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  You have already covered this to some extent, but just maybe just briefly outline, again, why this partnership route, rather than the conventional IBA, is the preferred approach.  


MR. KAHGEE:  As I said previously, we were never really interested in an IBA.  Having experience and negotiating those types of agreements myself, typically those are snapshots in time. 


We wanted to look at something, as I said, that would be a benefit for our people for many generations to come.  And, really, the only way our mechanism that seemed possible to do that was a partnership. 


This was not -- as I said, it wasn't an IBA.  This was not a resolution of historical issues within our territory.  This was strictly a commercial arrangement with the parties and took a great deal of time to get to where we are today.


And I think that is the other point that needs to be made.  These things take time.  This is not something you arrive at overnight.  When I think about the efforts we had to put in since 2006 to get to the point where we are today, it is tremendous:  the many, many hours of prep, the many, many hours of leadership's time, staff's time, the community's time.  To understand these issues and get to where we are today is a tremendous accomplishment. 


But, first and foremost, I have to emphasize that this was always about protecting our interests in the territory, and once we were able to secure that accommodation agreement with Ontario, we knew that we had to find a way to really put that to the test.  What does meaningful participation look like?  And we realized that the best way to do that was through the partnership. 


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  Thank you very much.  We will be talking about how these costs got built up, and this has been helpful, I think, to explain to us some of the complexities of it. 


But just, finally, can you tell the Board how you see your ongoing involvement with this partnership as we go into the future?  


MR. KAHGEE:  Well, certainly, as I said, there's a lot of work still to be done to bring that understanding and that certainty to the community, first and foremost, to understand the complexity to this. 


But as part of growing that understanding, that capacity, within our communities, we've structured an advisory committee that has -- that consists of representatives from both SON and Hydro One, and they meet regularly to address any issues with the partnership, and hopefully that structure going forward will be another opportunity to grow that understanding of this partnership.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right, sir.  Thank you very much.  Is there anything more you would like to add to aid the Board's understanding of this process?  


MR. KAHGEE:  I think we've -- I think we have covered everything off.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.


MR. KAHGEE:  Miigwetch.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, sir, just before I turn the panel over for cross-examination, I thought it might be useful to have probably Mr. Smith explain the foldout that we have given to you, the table showing the timelines here.  It is Exhibit J1.1.  


Mr. Smith, I wonder if you can help us.  I don't want to spend too much time on this in-chief, but I would just like people to understand what we have tried to do here and how to interpret this table.  Can you just explain to us the general format here so that we can understand what is going on?


MR. SMITH:  In terms of general format, what we tried to do is take the last approximately three years, which, as Randall pointed out, is when the negotiations really intensified. 


One of the primary issues here today is the start-up costs, and this is the period over which those start-up costs were incurred. 


At the bottom in the table, you can see we've attempted to outline when those costs were incurred and, at a high level, what the nature of those costs that were incurred. 


MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  Let me stop you there.  If I look at the table, there is a claim being made in this case for the start-up costs, sir.  I think it is $7.7 million, if memory serves me correctly. 


MR. SMITH:  Correct. 


MR. ROGERS:  Can you tell us on this table or chart when those costs start to be collected?


MR. SMITH:  The costs at issue in this case began in early 2012, effectively. 


MR. ROGERS:  Right.  Now, there were costs incurred before that which are not part of this application. 


MR. SMITH:  Again, it was pointed out, this has been almost a 10-year journey we have been on, and there have been many costs prior to that.  But the costs at issue today are the ones that started to incur in 2012. 


MR. ROGERS:  So if we look at January 2012 on, that is roughly -- that is about the start time when these costs are incurred?


MR. SMITH:  Approximately, yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  And I see across the top of the page you have each year set out with the activities that occurred in that year. 


MR. SMITH:  That's right. 


MR. ROGERS:  Down below in the middle of the chart you've got a timeline to show when various activities that took place.  Is that it?  


MR. SMITH:  Correct.  I mean, the big milestone in bright red near the top left is the energizing of the line itself.  That is when the Bruce-to-Milton project went into service, and that was actually May of 2012.  And, in many ways, that was really the benchmark point that drove a lot of the timeline below it.  By early 2012, we knew it was imminent that the project was about to be completed, and that's when negotiations on the agreements themselves to build the partnership really began in earnest. 


The other coloured lines going down are the different, I will say, streams of negotiations that took place in order to reach the partnership agreement.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  You can confirm that, so far as you are aware, this is an accurate reflection of when these costs were incurred? 


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  In the bottom of the table, I see that there are years there and various cost items displayed.  This tells us -- for example, in 2012, it shows the costs that were incurred in that year by category. 


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  And the same in 2013, 2014, and 2015; correct?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Salter, I think you can answer questions today about some of those costs, if it is an issue?  


MR. SALTER:  I would be happy to.  


MR. ROGERS:  Is there anything else you think we need to understand, Mr. Smith, before we proceed?  


MR. SMITH:  Not at this time. 


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions, sir.  The witnesses are available for cross-examination.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Before we go to cross-examination, I just have one quick question.  


You mentioned that there were costs incurred prior to 2012.  But they're not indicated on this chart?  


MR. SMITH:  We're not seeking recovery for those costs. 


DR. ELSAYED:  No, but I just want to understand.  Why did you choose to have that as the cut-off line for that claim that you are making for the start-up costs?  


MR. SMITH:  The costs incurred for which we are seeking recovery were involved in the negotiation of the actual partnership agreement and the requisite agreements that go along with that, that actually created the entity, the licence entity that is seeking recovery. 


The discussions that were had before, be it with the government or with Hydro One, we didn't think were necessarily part of this hearing proceeding.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  


MR. ROGERS:  May I just ask what happened to those costs before 2012?  


MR. SMITH:  They were borne by the participants.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So now we will go to cross-examination.  I understand Ms. Lea is going to start.  
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  While we're on the subject of the costs that you are not seeking recovery for, do you have an estimate of what investment you might have made in those prior years?  


MR. SMITH:  No.  


MS. LEA:  Can you assist us as to whether it would be less than, more than, or about equivalent to the start-up costs that you are seeking?  


MR. SMITH:  No, I couldn't hazard a guess on that, frankly. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I wonder, Mr. Chair, if I could begin by seeking two exhibit numbers.  Board Staff filed last week and this week -- I think maybe both this week -- an exhibit book which I propose to refer to during cross-examination and also a book of authorities which I will likely refer to during argument this afternoon, and I would like to assign exhibit numbers just for identification. 


With respect to the exhibit book, this exhibit book brings on to this record items that are not yet on it and are from, largely, the licence and transfer, asset transfer application for B2M, and also some information on the east-west tie proceeding. 


So I would ask that that be made Exhibit J1.2. 
Exhibit No. J1.2:  Board Staff's exhibit book.


MS. LEA:  Then the book of authorities is simply a compendium of cases related to the issue of retroactive ratemaking.  I would ask that that be marked as Exhibit J1.3 and, as I've said, these are for identification. 

Exhibit No. J1.3:  Board Staff's Book of authorities

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much for coming today to give us some help in understanding the application for B2M.  I would like to begin by asking you a few questions about the general structure of the application that you have put before us. 


B2M has applied for a revenue requirement for five years.  Why is that best for this particular transmitter?  Why not apply for two years, to be in sync with Hydro One and the other transmitters' timing for resetting revenue requirements?  


MR. SMITH:  In essence, there are really two years that we sought -- chose to seek a five-year period.  First off, B2M is one of the smaller transmitters.  There's actually five licensed transformers in Ontario.  Hydro One Networks is obviously the dominant large one with over 90 percent of assets.  The others are much smaller, and, typically, all of the other small transmitters have prolonged periods of time before they do cost of service.  


The other and the primary reason we chose to a five- year agreement was that we knew there were a number of start-up costs that had to be recovered within that application.  Using a five-year period prolonged the recovery period and, thus, minimized and reduced the rate impacts associated with that recovery. 


MS. LEA:  So what would be the disadvantage of setting a revenue requirement for just 2015 and 2016 at this time?  


MR. SMITH:  The rate impacts to ratepayers would be higher. 


MS. LEA:  Can you give me an estimate?  


MR. SMITH:  Well, the total recovery is about 8 million.  We are seeking that over four years.  The   actual -- 


MS. LEA:  For the start-up costs, sir. 


MR. SMITH:  Yes, sorry.  Approximately 8 million, $7.7 million, which will be recovered at 1.925 million from 2016 through 2019.  If we were to shrink this period to a two-year recovery period, obviously the rate impacts from the start-up costs would double.  


The actual bill impact I would have to calculate.  I don't have that at my fingertips. 


MS. LEA:  Would that be of use to the Board, to have the bill impact calculated?  


MR. SMITH:  I would say that the bill impact from the current schedule is approximately two cents per year per ratepayer.  So not having done the exact calculations, it would be measured in single digit cents per customer per year. 


MS. LEA:  But possibly double?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Again, I haven't done any calculation, so I don't want to offer a number.  But we're talking about less than 10 cents per year per ratepayer.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I would like then to ask you some questions about the annual adjustments and deferral accounts that you have proposed.  I understand that you have proposed three annual adjustments and three deferral accounts; you have asked that they be established.  


I would like to ask you a few questions about the first annual adjustment, costs of capital.  Did you consider setting these costs for each year now rather than having an annual adjustment?  


MR. SMITH:  No.  


MS. LEA:  Why not?  


MR. SMITH:  The procedure under the transmission filing requirements is that the cost of capital is reset by transmitters on an annual basis, given the parameters provided by the Board, in approximately November each year.  We determined that following that course was the best way to go. 


MS. LEA:  Do you think, if this Board were to choose to set an amount now for cost of capital, there would be some disadvantage to B2M in that regard?  


MR. SMITH:  It would increase the risk both to ratepayers and to the partnership.  The advantage of resetting the parameters on an annual basis is that it best reflects the cost of capital at that point in time.  Setting costs of capital upwards of five years ahead of time potentially leads to a situation where the cost of capital factors and circumstances in place at that time are not accurately reflected. 


What that means is that, if, for instance, rates were to go down, for example, that the company would enjoy windfall profits, frankly, from being able to continue to recover a higher than normal interest rate.  


MS. LEA:  What would be the -- how material do you think this risk would be to either side, to either B2M or its ratepayers?  


MR. SMITH:  Well, to ratepayers, it would border on immaterial.  The impacts associated with the entire revenue requirement, as I mentioned, including the recovery of the start-up costs, is less than 10 cents per customer per year. 


However, for B2M, those risks could be substantial.  If there were a, say, 100 basis points shift in interest rates, by far the biggest cost of B2M is its cost of capital.  So significant shifts, which could take place over a five-year period, would be very meaningful to B2M, whereas they would be almost immaterial to ratepayers.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Moving on to taxes, you have proposed both an annual adjustment and a deferral account for tax changes.  Can you tell me how these are different, why you need both, and how they work together?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  So the variance account for -- can you hear me?  


MR. ROGERS:  Could you just change places, perhaps, so the reporter can hear you?  Just for now.  We can reorganize in a few moments.  


MS. BARAGETTI:  So the variance account for taxes is to allow -- to reflect changes in tax legislation, whether it is tax rate or interpretations by the tax authorities.  And that is a standard account that is normally requested in such applications.  


MS. LEA:  Yes.  And the annual adjustment?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  So the annual adjustment is that so that, if a change is made, we reflect -- so if, let's say, a change in law occurs in 2016.  Then the impact for 2016 would be reflected in the variance account.  But the plan would be to reflect the annual adjustment for 2017 onwards so that we don't have an accumulation of -- in the variance account.  


MS. LEA:  Is there any difference in the sorts of things that can be adjusted annually or included in the deferral account?  Is the deferral account broader than the scope of the annual adjustment?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  No.  It would be the same.  


MS. LEA:  So what you're doing then is protecting yourself both within the year through the account and from year to year adjusting so that you don't build up a large amount in the account.  Is that the plan?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  That's correct.  And, really, it could be for -- it could go either way; right?  So it protects both the ratepayers as well as the applicant.  


MS. LEA:  Yes.  So just to be clear, because, in the nomenclature in the application, we became a little confused.  Both of these cover the same material:  changes in rates, changes in tax legislation and rules?

MS. BARAGETTI:  That's correct. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


Are these adjustments in the deferral account intended to be broad enough to capture a reversal of the advanced rulings that B2M received from the authorities on the tax-exempt status of the First Nations partner?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  So it is highly remote -- it is highly unlikely that there would be a change in the tax-exempt status of First Nation, but in theory, yes.  


MS. LEA:  So, if there were such a reversal, however unlikely -- and I accept that it is unlikely -- you would seek to include that in your account, the results thereof, the impact thereof, in your account and your annual adjustment?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  That is correct.  Mm-hmm.  


MS. LEA:  Now, you provided the advance rulings to us, and I am asking that this exhibit be put on the screen, please, if possible:  Exhibit C, tab 5, Schedule 1, and the advance rulings were provided as attachments.  


I am going to ask you to look at attachment A at page 7 of that attachment, please.  So that is Exhibit C, tab 5, Schedule 1, attachment A, and I was looking at page 7.  And there is a proviso immediately -- yes, there we see the title:  "Ruling Given"?


MS. BARAGETTI:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  And the proviso reads:

"Provided that the preceding statements constitute a complete and accurate disclosure of all of the relevant facts, proposed transactions, and purpose of the proposed transactions, we rule as follows."


And then they give the ruling; is that correct?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  That's correct. 


MS. LEA:  So were all the statements that you gave the tax authorities complete and accurate, as far as you knew at the time?  


MS. BARAGETTI:  So these statements were not given by Hydro One.  Those were given by the representative of the SON.  


MS. LEA:  Can I have someone else answer the question, then, please?  


MR. SALTER:  Yes, they were.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And has anything changed about the facts or the purposes or anything else that would change these rulings?  


MR. SALTER:  No, there haven't been. 


MS. LEA:  And do you anticipate anything that might -- I just want to make sure that this proviso isn't going to cause trouble in the future.  Is there anything that you can anticipate that would create that difficulty?  


MR. SALTER:  I don't anticipate anything.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.


Turning to the -- one moment.  I just want to think about something here.  


Turning to the question of the annual adjustment, the third-party costs.  So the third proposed annual adjustment, as I understand it, is for changes in third-party costs.  And I think that we have discussed this briefly in the technical conference.  Can someone give me examples of the sorts of third-party costs we're talking about here?  


MR. SMITH:  Probably one of the best examples would be costs associated with compliance with reliability standards, primarily those given by the ISO and NERC, as one example.  Really what is at the heart of this is that B2M is a partnership that with a -- essentially a single asset in its portfolio, not to be confused in any way with Hydro One Networks.  It has a very large and very broad portfolio of diverse assets all across the province.  B2M is designed and set up to recover its costs and to minimize those costs.  The operation and maintenance is approximately $500,000 that we're seeking to recover.


Therefore, if, for example, NERC were to come down with a new standard that required significant spending on the asset, B2M does not have a large portfolio and a revenue requirement that it can adjust and meet those costs on its own.  Hydro One Networks, given its much larger base and much larger portfolio, can accommodate that within its existing programs.  B2M cannot. 


Therefore, if there were significant costs, for example, associated with NERC's compliance, B2M would need to, necessarily, seek recovery of those costs at a future time because it does not have those kinds of funds in its current revenue requirement.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Yes, I take your point about the lack of a portfolio for B2M.  


Who would be a third party?  Could this adjustment be used to adjust for increases in costs charged by Hydro One to B2M?  


MR. SMITH:  No.  Hydro One charges costs to B2M under fixed SLA agreements. 


MS. LEA:  But what if a demand from a third party like the standard you're talking about affected Hydro One's costs?  


MR. SMITH:  That's -- part of the management of B2M GP is to review those costs and to make decisions about payment.  If NERC -- if NERC were to increase the costs, it would be with respect to B2M.  It wouldn't order Hydro One, necessarily, to change B2M's reliability standards.  


MS. LEA:  But don't you get all your services from Hydro One?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  At the behest of B2M GP.  B2M GP is the asset manager for the asset.  It has an SLA agreement in place under which it receives services from Hydro One.  If there were additional services that it required due to a change in standard, as our example would suggest, B2M would reach out to Hydro One to perform those services, presumably.  


MS. LEA:  So any costs that B2M incurred as a result of this type of change in standards would be apart from and in addition to the costs that it pays Hydro One under the service agreement?  


MR. SMITH:  In our example, yes.  


MS. LEA:  Are there any other examples that you would like to provide?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I could elaborate a little bit further on the issue of NERC standards.  At the present time -- 


MS. LEA:  Watch out if -- the one button controls two mics, so you have to be very cooperative over there.  


MR. PENSTONE:  That will be a first.


[Laughter]


So, in particular, for this specific asset, it is subject to NERC's vegetation management standards.  It is a transmission line on a right-of-way. 


NERC's standards are on -- undergo continuous review and are subject to change.  So in the examples that Jeff was summarizing, the annual adjustment would allow the partnership to accommodate a more demanding and rigorous standard that NERC may enforce for vegetation management in the future.  The actual mechanics would be, once that standard was approved, the partnership would go back to Hydro One, revise the Service Level Agreement, and amend it to say, "Here is additional work that has to be done to enable B2M LP to be compliant with NERC standards."  Hydro One would then identify the additional costs.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


What was the last time that those NERC vegetation standards changed?  


MR. PENSTONE:  They were reviewed and interpretations were provided this year.  


MS. LEA:  And the time before that?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I can't state before that.  But -- and I want to make it clear.  There is two things that can impact costs.  There is the standard itself, but also interpretations in terms of how the standard should be applied. 


MS. LEA:  You can understand my question is trying to get at how often does this happen that would trigger such an expense.  


MR. PENSTONE:  So in this particular case, I don't forecast that this will necessarily occur.  But as was pointed out earlier, we would like to be able to have a mechanism, in the event it did, that those costs could be recovered.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Are we able to look at the technical conference on the screen?  I wonder if we could look at the technical conference at page 47, please.  


And I guess what I would ask you to think about is whether you are truly seeking --


MS. FRY:  I don't know what it was. 


MS. LEA:  Is your screen still working? 


MS. FRY:  My screen is still working. 


MS. LEA:  I am looking at page 47, line 14, and I think this was Mr. Smith that would be testifying. 


So we can see the -- we can see the technical conference on the screen, but I will read it for those who don't have a screen right in front of them. 


So Mr. Smith says:

"There may be costs we cannot forecast and because of the financial structure of the entity cannot just absorb out of hand.  Therefore, we need -- it is a mechanism really so that we can capture those costs."

Then you talk about the NERC standard, and you say:

"For example, if tomorrow NERC said that standards go up, and we estimated the cost was X, we would want to be able to collect those costs of X and in the future -- and this is an important point -- in the future seek Board approval to have those costs included in our revenue requirement in the future.
"So (a), there will be a Board approval involved in the future, but really this is the -- I will call it the vessel to collect costs that we cannot anticipate at this time." 


And I am going to go on:

"So in terms of providing an exhaustive list, it is a bit of chicken and egg insofar as we don't know what the costs may be."


And so on. 


Then Ms. Blanchard asks a question at line 6 of page 48:

"Okay.  So to paraphrase, am I right in saying that the issue is, because you are small, you can't absorb unanticipated third-party pass-through costs during your five-year term.  You want to track them, collect them, and then seek approval later?"


And the answer is:

"Yeah, exactly."

So my question is to you:  This sounds to me like a deferral account and not an annual adjustment.  Can you tell me, is it really an annual adjustment you're seeking, which does, of course, not capture in-year costs, or is this a deferral account where you collect -- track, collect, and seek approval later of costs?  


MR. SMITH:  It would function like a deferral account  in practice, insofar as the costs, when they're incurred, were collected, and Board approval would be sought at a later time for recovery. 


MS. LEA:  Would it be sought that immediate year to adjust the revenue requirement?  I am trying to understand the annual nature of this adjustment.  It is something that, if the costs occurred in 2017, you would come to the Board for an annual adjustment to adjust your rates?  


MR. SMITH:  Continuing with our example, if a -- if costs were necessary in the middle of the year, the costs for the remainder of that year would be collected.  And then, at the end of the year, we would seek to reset the costs to the new standard.  And then the amount in the variance account would be collected at a future time.  


MS. LEA:  Which variance account?  


MR. SMITH:  Did we not ask for a variance account for that?  


MS. LEA:  My understanding is that the three variance accounts you asked for were unplanned capital spending, which would not cover O&M costs, which I think -- I think, and you tell me if I am wrong -- is the nature of the costs in your example, but not for unplanned O&M or third    party --

MR. SMITH:  Okay. 


MS. LEA:  -- for accounts.  So given that understanding, then, does that change your answer?  


MR. SMITH:  It doesn't change our answer insofar that we would seek to reset those costs.  The adjustment is really a manner in which to collect the costs and seek Board approval after. 


But the principle, at the risk of repeating myself, goes back to the fact that B2M has no other way to absorb these costs. 


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I accept -- it is really the mechanism I am talking about, sir, not whether you would need to recover some cost because of your size. 


But I guess what is confusing me about this is that, as I understand it, annual adjustments are supposed to be very mechanistic.  They're the sort of thing you file.  It is a calculation.  I don't think it is intended to be a review of prudence at that time, or a review of some judgment.  Would you not think that some review of prudence or judgment might be included in the type of adjustment you are talking about here?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, our intent certainly is not to create any confusion.  Part of the issue comes down to the examples.  The example we've used all along is the NERC standard. 


MS. LEA:  Yes. 


MR. SMITH:  The NERC standard is -- by law, we are mandated to follow it.  So in terms of it being mechanistic and requiring, I will say, discretionary review after the fact is minimal.  The standard must be followed.  We must spend the costs in order to meet that standard.  


MS. LEA:  I understand that the standard has to be followed.  It would simply be how you sought to do that, whether it be from Hydro One or a cheaper provider, what the level of costs would be, whether those costs were reasonable.  That's the kind of prudence or judgment that  -- I am asking you:  Would that not be involved?  


MR. SMITH:  Certainly the management of B2M would seek to look at those costs and to do it in the most expensive and most credible way that it could. 


MS. LEA:  The least expensive, I am sure you meant?  


MR. SMITH:  Excuse me.  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I am not doing re-examination here, sir, but I didn't want the record to be incorrect. 


[Laughter] 


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Thank you.  I could just say, as well, if I may interject, that certainly it is the intention that any discretionary costs like this would be vetted by the Energy Board.  Obviously, prudency is an issue. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Can I suggest that what has been described here is really not in the nature of an annual adjustment?  It is more in the nature of a deferral account.  And the difficulty that you have, I think, as I understand your evidence, with asking for a deferral account instead of an annual adjustment is what you have indicated is your inability to bear those costs for a five-year period if they're material.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry.  The question was?  Sorry.  


MS. LEA:  I will attempt to repeat it.  


Can I suggest to you that what you -- the way you described this example, what you really need is a deferral account, because there will be some judgment or prudence involved, but the difficulty with the deferral account for B2M is your inability to bear those costs, hold those costs for a five-year period.  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I mean, the intention is for us to collect those costs and seek recovery later, which meets the nature of a deferral account.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, in the technical conference, I think that you were asked -- or no.  I guess it was with respect to capital. 


So I recognize that, in the transmission system filing requirements, the transmission filing requirements and so on, there is no explicit Z-factor policy.  You understand, of course, what a Z-factor is; it is an opportunity to apply for unforeseen, uncontrollable, material costs. 


I see you nodding.  Can you answer verbally? 


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  If there were a Z-factor available to B2M and an unexpected material, unforeseeable,  and uncontrollable cost like this arose, would that satisfy your needs?  


MR. SMITH:  If a Z-factor were available, that would probably satisfy our needs, yes. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I would like then to talk about the deferral accounts now; I am moving to that part.  


We've already dealt with the tax deferral account.  I have no questions on the revenue requirement reconciliation account.  I think we understand that one.  


So that leaves us with the unplanned capital spending account.  So can you just give us a brief indication of why a deferral account is proposed for unplanned capital spending?  


MR. SMITH:  I won't restate the necessity for such account, in terms of the portfolio and the size of B2M. 


B2M is not in a position to handle very large capital expenditures out of its portfolio, as perhaps Hydro One Networks is more able to absorb. 


Unplanned capital spend, such as a catastrophic storm for example, are very rare with large 500 kV circuits.  It is very rare that a storm will take down an asset of that size.  However, it could happen; it has happened.  And B2M must plan for the possibility, however remote, that that could happen.  When that happens, it is an extremely large expense, again, at the risk of repeating myself, an expense that B2M cannot bear on its own. 

So the purpose is to collect those costs in a deferral account and seek recovery at a later date.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Now, we discussed this account -- well, I wasn't there.  At the technical conference, there was a discussion of this account at pages 16 to 20 of that transcript.  I don't think we will need to call it up, although we can do so.  In that technical conference I believe you agreed that, if a Z-factor, again, were available for this type of material spending, you would not need the deferral account.  


MR. SMITH:  Again, yes, that would probably satisfy our needs.  


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you very much.  One moment, please.  


Moving then back to more holistic questions about the five-year plan, including these annual adjustments and deferral accounts.  Given your proposals for annual adjustments and deferral accounts, what risk is there left for B2M to bear?  What risk are you being compensated for through your return on equity?  


MR. SMITH:  The biggest risk for just about any utility under a cost-of-service regime is on the revenue side.  True electricity revenue is relatively stable, but as we've seen over the past 10 years, it can fluctuate, and sometimes significantly.  


Transmission revenue is no different.  It can go up and down.  Therefore, the primary risk that is left for B2M is a shortfall in its revenue forecast going forward.  


MS. LEA:  Can you give us a little detail about that revenue forecast?  


MR. SMITH:  In what respect, sorry?  


MS. LEA:  What is the revenue forecast?  What is the likelihood of a material change in it?  


MR. SMITH:  I couldn't comment on the probability of a change in the revenue forecast.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  But in terms of the costs, you would agree with me that all external factors are covered by your annual adjustments and deferral accounts proposal?  


MR. SMITH:  Correct.  As you know, in a cost-of-service regime, the design is that the costs are exactly recovered through revenue.  However, revenue is generated according to the determinants in the market.  On transmission side specifically, it is the peak demand based on the hourly energy price and the hourly demand in a given month times the rates set by the uniform transmission rate. 


Should that peak demand fall short of what is expected, then revenue falls short.  Yet the costs are essentially the same.  Therefore, there is a deficit.  


MS. LEA:  The second question I have about this is:  What cost efficiencies do you plan to achieve over the five-year period?  


MR. SMITH:  There are few, if any, cost efficiencies specifically outlined in this agreement, and the reason is -- or in this application.  Excuse me. 


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  You said "few."  Can you point to any?  I don't mean to be persnickety.  I just do want to know if there are some that are proposed.  


MR. SMITH:  Not explicitly, no.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Go ahead.  


MR. SMITH:  The reason is, as mentioned before, the costs are meant to be kept at a minimum.  Given that this is an owner of a single line, the opportunities for creations of efficiencies are minimal on a line. 


Let's understand what the asset itself is.  The asset is a set of six wires hanging from insulators, hanging from towers.  There are no station assets.  There are no junctions.  There are no -- there are no -- few, if any, connections.  I don't believe there are any connections to customers.  Therefore, it is a wire transmitting electricity over about 177 kilometres.  


The types of efficiencies that a utility such as Hydro One Networks, a large transmitter, might be able to obtain from the system are simply, quite honestly, not available to B2M.  It doesn't have station assets that it can do routine testing on.  It doesn't have the kinds of assets that can be managed to improvement. 


Therefore, the explicit types of efficiency that might be mentioned in another transmitter's application are generally not available to B2M.  


MS. LEA:  Could you find them by requiring Hydro One to find efficiencies and pass those efficiencies on to you through the costs it charges you?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. PENSTONE:  So just a couple of points:  As it relates to efficiencies, we believe that the current arrangement whereby Hydro One provides the services to B2M LP is the most efficient manner to, in fact, operate and maintain B2M's assets today.  


So the partnership did not set up its own control centre.  The partnership did not set up its own vegetation management crews.  The partnership did not go out and buy material or fleet to be able to fulfil all of its obligations.  So we believe that right now the current arrangement with Hydro One providing these services is efficient. 


Having said that, to your point about driving efficiencies, we recognize that it is the Board's expectations that Hydro One itself would become more efficient over time, and if the costs of those services that are being provided today by Hydro One to B2M LP go down, we would -- those would be reflected in their cost of service to us.  


MS. LEA:  But this is not something that B2M would prompt.  It would be a result of Hydro One finding efficiencies and passing these on to B2M?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MS. LEA:  Given what you've said, do you believe it would be appropriate for the Board to give you an incentive to find efficiencies by imposing a stretch factor similar to that which is used for distributors who receive rates over a five-year period?  


MR. SMITH:  The efficiencies that I think you are seeking are built into Hydro One Networks' application in its decision.  A stretch factor, which is an item from the Dx IRM, which doesn't exist in transmission, so we would be breaking new ground from a regulatory point of view here as well, I'm not sure that that really would motivate B2M to necessarily go out and find savings.  


MS. LEA:  And why is that?  


MR. SMITH:  All that would do is bear additional cost.  B2M works currently with Networks to find efficiency, as Mike pointed out.  If Networks is able to do things at a lower cost, then B2M will enjoy the benefits of that efficiency.  Imposing an arbitrary stretch factor, as is done on the Dx side, I don't believe increases the motivation to find cost savings.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I will return to the agreement with Hydro One in a moment.  I just wanted to keep on, though, with a couple more questions about the issues related to issues 1 and 2.  


Now, I want to ask you a little bit about reporting over the five-year period.  And can you indicate to us what measures you are proposing to report annually and how you propose to complete that reporting, how you are going to do it?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Nicole, can you bring up that section?   


MS. LEA:  So you have on the screen, then, Exhibit A, tab 4, Schedule 1, page 4, and you have a section entitled "Outcome Measures."  


MR. PENSTONE:  So those measures would reflect -- or the extent to which B2M's assets would cause interruptions to load customers -- and that's reflected in the SAIFI and SAIDI metrics in the first two bullets.  The NERC vegetation compliance relates to being able to report and assure that we are, in fact, compliant with that particular standard.  


MS. LEA:  And what about the average system availability, sir?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. PENSTONE:  I'm going to have to confirm this, but I believe what that is, is basically the product of the interruption frequency and the interruption duration that gives you the overall system available.  


MS. LEA:  So it is, again, a measure of reliability?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, why did you choose to propose outcome measures and reporting in this manner?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, I think, two things.  One is that reliability is certainly a key objective of any  transmitter -- 


MS. LEA:  Yes, sir.  I'm sorry.  It wasn't which ones you chose to put forward that I was asking about.  I just wanted to -- why do you have a section of your evidence entitled "Outcome Measures" and an offer to track them to report the company's performance?  What was the motivation behind filing this type of evidence?  


MR. SMITH:  I think it was nothing more than, being a brand-new transmitter, we were trying to lay out to the Board how we planned to report.  


MS. LEA:  Is the idea of an outcome similar to what the Board has in its Renewed Regulatory Framework Policy for distributors?  


MR. SMITH:  I'm not sure it specifically referred to that.  As I say, as a brand-new transmitter, we were just trying to indicate clearly what our intentions were with respect to reporting.  


MS. LEA:  All right.  So the reporting requirements under the transmission system code and the RRR, you felt you would supplement whichever of those applied to you with these proposed reporting outcomes?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  And you proposed to report on these annually, perhaps filing at the time of filing your RRR?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes, I believe that's the intention.  


MS. LEA:  And what happens if you don't meet these or your performance declines?  Is there some result consequence for that?  


MR. SMITH:  We have not offered a specific consequence in our evidence. 


MS. LEA:  Or reward, for that matter?  


MR. SMITH:  Correct.  Being a brand-new transmitter, we wanted to indicate what reporting we intended to do.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  And I think the purpose of this is to prove to the Board that, as a new transmitter, our assets are performing -- sorry -- are not having an adverse effect on reliability and that we're compliant with industry standards.  


MR. SMITH:  If I may step back just a hair.  Part of something we've been trying to show in this and our previous applications dating back to 2013 is that the formation of this partnership will have absolutely no effect on the reliability or the service to ratepayers in Ontario.  How we do that, we do that at the pleasure of the Board.  But we are offering that these are the most logical measures.  They're known measures, and this is our attempt to demonstrate, over time, that this partnership will have no adverse effect, no harm to ratepayers or the reliability of the assets in question.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, in your evidence at Exhibit C -- and I don't think we need to call this up, but at Exhibit C, tab 2, Schedule 1, in the first page of that evidence, you indicate that B2M will be a very low-cost provider compared to other transmitters in Ontario.  How do you know that?  


MR. SMITH:  By comparison of the revenue requirement per rate base.  The nature of the assets – again, as I mentioned, the assets are basically six wires hanging from towers.  They require, generally speaking, compared to other transmitter assets, low maintenance, low cost, and, therefore, this transmitter has a much lower maintenance and operation cost as compared to a larger, more diverse transmitter for that size, a more diverse transmitter that has many of those other assets. 


Therefore, it is low cost, and the nature in which we set it up was to minimize those costs wherever possible. 


MS. LEA:  So it is the nature of the assets and the size of the transmitter that is part of the basis for this statement?  


MR. SMITH:  Primarily the nature.  The size doesn't have a great deal to do with it, actually.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  What about on a unit cost basis, say, O&M per kilometre of line?


I'll tell you why I am asking.  In the technical conference, I think it was Mr. Penstone who explained that it is difficult to benchmark B2M, as it is a single-line transmitter with no comparable companies.  And we heard today that you are depending on Hydro One Networks really for any efficiencies that you might gain.  


What happens if -- can you indicate whether you would be willing to report on operation, maintenance, and administration costs per length of line?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Certainly.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So you could report that annually?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  And, again, clarifying something in the evidence that I wanted to understand -- just a moment.  


You indicate that one of your strategic objectives is to be in the top quartile for productivity and effectiveness against utility comparables.  I guess I didn't understand how that was to be achieved, if there aren't comparables.  Can you help us understand that, please?


The evidence reference, if it's of use, is Exhibit A, tab 5, Schedule 1, page 6.  You'll see in the chart there, in that table, productivity and cost-effectiveness:

"Achieve top quartile unit costs and transmission against utility comparables."

Can you help me understand how we know if you have achieved that strategic objective, or how you know?  


MR. SMITH:  We share that objective with Hydro One Networks, who is the prime contractor.  So the objective of Networks to achieve that standing against its comparables is what we rely upon to suggest that B2M is also in the top quartile. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Over what time period does Hydro One intend to achieve this status?  


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry?  Over what time frame, did you say? 


MS. LEA:  Over what time frame does Hydro One intend to achieve this status?  


MR. SMITH:  I'm not certain.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Over what time frame does B2M intend to achieve this status?  It says the five-year goals associated with the company's strategic objectives are shown.  So I am presuming that at the end of five years, you believe and intend to achieve top quartile unit costs. 


MR. SMITH:  That's the objective, yes. 


MS. LEA:  But you do not know whether Hydro One Networks, on whom you depend, has that same time frame in mind?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. PENSTONE:  So we know that Hydro One is attempting to drive its unit costs down on a regular basis. 


MS. LEA:  Yes. 


MR. PENSTONE:  One of the difficulties we have in terms of utility comparables is, if you take a look at B2M's costs for four years out of five, they look remarkably low, because, in fact, the costs are limited to corporate functions and services and some administration.  The highest cost that we'll ever incur will be when we actually undertake vegetation management. 


So one of the difficulties of benchmarking is that, if I benchmark this particular company now against a comparable, we look very good.  The year that we actually do vegetation management, our costs will go up suddenly.  


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Okay.  I understand that.  It is just -- I was just trying to figure out how you were going to achieve this strategic goal.  Is there a comparable?  You have identified perhaps it is that you are relying on Hydro One to make that comparison?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So, again, we're relying on Hydro One to be able to come back to us and show that they are driving efficiencies in their organization.  Those efficiencies will get reflected back into B2M's costs.  


I take your point about finding a comparable transmitter.  Very difficult to do.  I am not aware of another transmitter whose only assets are towers and conductors and insulators and the footings.  So the real costs that we could benchmark are literally the vegetation management costs and services that Hydro One provides to us and the corporate functions and services costs that they provide to us as well.  


MS. LEA:  If Hydro One does not demonstrate the efficiencies that you expect, would you consider another service provider?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. PENSTONE:  So we would consider it.  I will say that it would be a challenge to achieve, for example, or find another organization that would provide the continuous monitoring and operation of our assets other than Hydro One.  They're in a position to do that today from their operating centre, but we would certainly consider it.  


MS. LEA:  Is there a Hydro One line in the vicinity?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Can you explain that to us, please?  


MR. PENSTONE:  B2M -- the B2M lines are directly adjacent and on the same right-of-way as existing Hydro One circuits.  So when Hydro One will be doing our vegetation management cycle coincides with Hydro One's vegetation management cycle for the adjacent circuits.  So while they're there, they will also do vegetation management on our lines.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Now, are you aware that the OEB has said that its Renewed Regulatory Framework Policies will eventually be applied to transmitters?  


MR. SMITH:  There's been discussion of that, but I am not aware of any proceeding that has begun to make that possible.  It is something that's been talked about. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Have you seen the scorecard that the OEB uses for electricity distributors?  


MR. SMITH:  Many times.  


MS. LEA:  And do you have any ideas as to what should be included in a comparable scorecard for transmitters? 


MR. SMITH:  We have already talked about the cost parameters.  There is a cost per kilometre and a cost per customer.


Probably the -- one of the big differences between the current Dx scorecard and what might be a future Tx scorecard would be the aspects of customers.  The transmitters have few, if any, customers.  Even Networks, as large it is, has, subject to check, something like 300 actual transmission customers.  So the customer metrics aren't that relevant for a transmitter.


However, costs per kilometre, certainly, that is a relevant metric.  There are reliability standards.  There are other items that would be meaningful in a transmission scenario.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  


Mr. Chair, I am coming to a change in the subject matter.  Would this be an appropriate time for a break?  


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  It is 10:30.  Why don't we take a 15-minute break, and we will resume with the Staff cross-examination at 10:45.  


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, sir.  Just before the Board breaks, can I raise something I neglected to do this morning and ask for the usual exemption which would allow me to speak to my witnesses even though they're under cross-examination?  As usual, I undertake not to abuse the rule, but it is important for me to be able to talk to them to make sure that the technical evidence comes out right, and also I understand I'm expected to deliver argument this afternoon, so I will have to talk to them. 


MS. LEA:  And, Mr. Rogers, would Mr. Monem need that same -- 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, he's co-counsel.  Yes, he would too. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  

--- Recess taken at 10:29 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:47 a.m. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.  


Ms. Lea, please continue with your cross-examination.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  


I would like to turn, please, to the Service Level Agreement between B2M and Hydro One, and I am going to be referring to Articles 5.3 and 5.4 of that agreement.  And while that is coming up on the screen, what I'm attempting to understand is whether the costs charged to B2M by Hydro One can vary over the term of this five-year agreement. 


Now, in the technical conference at page 58, Mr. Penstone was explaining that the costs would not rise if Hydro One's costs rose, as I understood his evidence.  But I am not sure that I did have a good understanding of that.  Can someone explain to me whether, in fact, the costs can vary over the term of the agreement?  


I see that Articles 5.3 and 5.4 are now on the screen, and these articles seem to suggest that the costs can be changed, adjusted, in certain circumstances.  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. PENSTONE:  So the agreement contemplates that the budget can be amended; that's clear in Section 5.3.  But the amendments would occur as a result of costs that were unforeseen, and it would have to be amended based on the mutual agreement of both parties. 


MS. LEA:  If we look at Article 5.4, it says that:

"The budget shall reflect anticipated costs of operations services by Hydro One Networks on a monthly or quarterly basis ..."

And so on.

And then in the second sentence:

"If Hydro One Networks becomes aware that the costs of operations services for the current fiscal year may exceed the budget, it shall notify the company and provide a proposed amendment to the budget..."


And so on. 


That sounds to me like it isn't merely things like force majeure.  


MR. PENSTONE:  So I wanted to be clear.  When I mentioned "unforeseen," it was not in the sense of force majeure. 


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. PENSTONE:  The presumption here is, if Hydro One is coming back and wanting to amend the budget, those budgets were struck with certain assumptions in mind, labour rates, the extent of the work that had to be provided, the nature of the work that had to be provided.  If there was a substantial change in that, they would come back and seek to renegotiate the budget.  Now, I will say that we don't anticipate that those changes have a high probability of occurring.  


MS. LEA:  All right.  But just to be clear, it isn't merely something that would be prompted by B2M's needs, such as the nature of the work or the amount of work that needed to be done.  But a change to Hydro One's internal costs, if I can put it that way, like labour rates, in fact, could prompt a reconsideration or request to reconsider the budget. 


MR. PENSTONE:  It would prompt a request to reconsider the budget.  But having said that, the budget was struck with certain assumptions in terms of what those rates would be.  


And I'm going to presume that Hydro One, when they came up with those costs, had a good mechanism to forecast what they would be today and over the period of the Service Level Agreement.  


MS. LEA:  You believe they built in some kind of cushion for themselves so that they were sure that the costs would not be less than what they actually turned out to be?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I don't believe that that's the case.  


MS. LEA:  What's the foundation for that belief?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The foundation of that belief is my awareness of Hydro One's costs.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, what if Hydro One does find efficiencies in its practices and its costs fall during the five years this agreement is in effect?  Would B2M's costs fall?  


MR. PENSTONE:  We would seek to renegotiate the SLA to realize those reduced costs. 


MS. LEA:  How would you know of them?  


MR. PENSTONE:  We get reports from Hydro One in terms of the costs that have been incurred for various services that are being provided.  


MS. LEA:  How would these savings be passed on to ratepayers under the -- the way your application is presently structured?  


MR. SMITH:  Given the five-year cost of service application that we have put in, if there are a reduction in the O&M, it wouldn't flow straight to -- immediately.  What would happen at the end of the year is Hydro One Networks, as part of its rate-setting exercise, collects the revenue requirements from the various transmitters, the five, and builds up the universal transmission rate based upon those revenue requirements.  So a change in the revenue requirement -- if we made a change in the revenue requirement that reported to Networks for ratemaking purposes, it would be in there.  


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  I don't understand.  I thought you were asking for your revenue requirement to be fixed for five years.  During that five-year period, how would any efficiencies found be passed on to ratepayers?  


MR. SMITH:  On the O&M side, they wouldn't.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  


MR. SMITH:  But just -- if I am repeating myself, forgive me.  But the costs of the SLA, notwithstanding the one vegetation year that we have in the five-year period, is approximately $500,000.  The 10 or even a 20 percent change in that, which is unlikely due to any sort of labour changes or anything like that, is something in the order of $50,000 to $100,000.


To move the uniform transmission rate one penny takes about a $2 million change in revenue requirement.  Therefore, if B2M, all things being equal, changed something for $100,000, which, as I stated, is unlikely, it would have to do that 20 times to move the rate from 3.86 to 3.87. 


And as you are probably aware, the transmission portion of an average residential bill is about 7 to 8 percent.  So moving it from 3.86 to 3.87 is -- what's that?  About a 0.3 percent change, and it is point – 7 percent of the bill.  So the absolute immateriality is important for people to understand.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One customer protection mechanism the OEB uses when affiliates provide services to each other is the Affiliate Relationships Code for Electricity Distributors and Transmitters.  And B2M's evidence at Exhibit A, tab 10, Schedule 1, page 3, indicates that you followed that Code. 


I was wondering if you could provide a few more specifics.  Why did you choose Hydro One to provide B2M with services?  How did you establish that they would provide the best value for money?  


MR. SMITH:  For two reasons:  One, as I stated earlier, one of our primary objectives was to ensure that no harm, in terms of service or reliability, would come to ratepayers.  Hydro One Networks, as we all know, has a diverse and large workforce capable of performing any of the tasks that is necessary.  There are few, if any, other transmission companies in Ontario that could provide that level of service at the current time. 


The second point -- and again I believe this was brought out earlier -- is that the assets owned by B2M are directly adjacent to a current comparable -- I will say almost twin -- 500 dual circuit line on, by and large, the same rights-of0way from -- all the way from Bruce to Milton.  Therefore, there was significant synergy and benefit of having services performed by Hydro One Networks as they were performing those same services on their own assets.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, the Affiliate Relationships Code, in Sections 2.3 3 and 2.3 4, indicates that, when you price services involving an affiliate, you can either use a market price where a competitive market exists for the service or fully allocated costing if no comparable market exists.  Which was the case here?  


MR. SMITH:  It is a cost based. 


MS. LEA:  Why did you choose cost based?  Why did you believe no market existed for the types of services that you are being provided by Hydro One?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The services that B2M LP is acquiring from Hydro One includes the operation -- the operating services that actually monitor the facilities.  So there is only one control centre in the province of Ontario that does that, and that would be Hydro One's facility. 


The second point I would like to make is, in terms of the services that are provided by Hydro One, this is a 500 kV line.  Hydro One is the only other operator -- owner-operator of 500 kV equipment and services in the province of Ontario.  And a key aspect of the services that we're seeking from Hydro One is, frankly, the ability to effect repairs.  So they have spare inventories of insulators, new bolts.  They have helicopters.  They have the various materials that are required to effect repairs.  And honestly, we would have to go outside of the province to find any other potential service provider to perform such functions. 


And the problem, if you go outside of the province, is that the time to actually provide the service is extended.  So what we're looking for is a service provider that can provide prompt response and have the materials and capabilities to effect repairs. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Now, another provision of the Affiliate Relationships Code is that you need to get from the affiliate, Hydro One, a detailed breakdown of the fully allocated costs to provide the service on the time frame that you think is necessary.  Will you be seeking this information from Hydro One?  And, if so, how often do you anticipate seeking that?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So we do have a detailed breakdown of the services that Hydro One is providing to us.  We have the costs for the operating centre.  We have a detailed breakdown of all of the corporate functions costs as well, and we have a forecast of what the vegetation management costs will be.  


MS. LEA:  And you can receive an update of those costs when you feel it is necessary?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I would like to turn to the question of start-up costs, please, and thank you very much for filing Exhibit J1.1 today.  It is very helpful.  


I just want to make sure that I understand when these costs were incurred.  So in the original licence application -- now, I'm going to be looking at the exhibit book as necessary here, which is J1.2, filed this morning  -- well, filed two days ago, but here with us this morning.  


In the original licence application, which was EB-2013-0078, and twinned with the asset transfer and so on, there was an interrogatory by Staff, No. 7, and it is at tab 3 of that exhibit book.  And there B2M provided a $1 million figure as an estimate of incremental one-time costs with the proviso that this was an estimate and the actual would probably be higher.  So what was the basis for that $1 million estimate?  


MR. SMITH:  At that time, which was very early 2013, it was a simple estimate; figured about half a million of legal fees and about half a million of regulatory-related fees.  We --


MS. LEA:  The reason I ask -- 


MR. SMITH:  -- we didn't go into great detail because the costs had, more or less, just begun to amass.  We indicated very clearly in the paragraph immediately below the estimate that we fully expected it to increase.  We also indicate very clearly in that paragraph that we expected it to stay under $10 million.  So rather than focusing on the fact that we gave a $1 million estimate, quite honestly, in that paragraph, it is clear we gave an estimate between $1 and $10 million, and we ended up at $7.7 million. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So what you're saying is that the second sentence under the bullets there:

"Expectations are that the final amount will exceed the original estimate detailed above but will be within the $10 million net benefit envelope of the transaction."


So you're indicating that that IR is to be read as saying that there is an estimate between $1 and $10 million?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Why did you use -- not use the $1.8 million, which apparently was the amount of the costs incurred by the end of 2012, according to the J1.1?  


MR. SMITH:  We didn't have that at the time the application was prepared in February/March of 2012. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  In Staff IR No. 9, in that application -- and that was at tab 4 of the exhibit book -- the amount of the costs there, there was an estimate in an attachment.  There was $365,000 of incurred costs, and then $2.05 million in estimated further costs.  At the time that that interrogatory was answered, didn't you have more incurred costs than $365,000?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  And the interrogatory was in June.  The original application was in March.  


MS. LEA:  June of 2013, the interrogatory?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  So you did not have the figures from 2012 by June of 2013 that we see on J1.1?  I am looking at the -- I'm looking at the costs -- maybe I am misunderstanding. 


MR. SMITH:  The $1 million estimate was provided in the application in March --


MS. LEA:  Right.  And I'm now looking --


MR. SMITH:  -- and at that time -- 


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Sorry.  I beg your pardon, sir. 


MR. SMITH:  And at that time, we didn't have many of the costs collected, quite frankly.  We had an --


MS. LEA:  Right. 


MR. SMITH:  -- estimate, and we provided that.  We said it was $1 million, but we clearly said that it was going to be more than that in the end. 


MS. LEA:  And the amount that is listed on Exhibit J1.1, which you filed today, of $1.8 million, that estimate was not available in -- the fact that those costs had been incurred in 2012, that information was not available in June of 2013?  


MR. SMITH:  Not all of it, because the IR was in June, and those costs were amassed over the totality of 2012.  


MS. LEA:  It may be that I'm misunderstanding this exhibit, and I... 


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  Could I just interrupt?  I think there is some confusion about 2012 and 2013 --


MS. LEA:  Yeah.  So the --


MR. SMITH:  Oh, I'm sorry --  


MS. LEA:  Yeah.  My question is, I think -- and please correct me if I am misunderstanding -- the interrogatory response was filed in June of 2013. 


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  So I would have thought that you would have had the information about what costs were incurred in 2012 by that time, and yet, in the IR, the incurred costs are listed as $365,000.  That is how I understand it.  I may be wrong about that.  


MR. SMITH:  No.  I believe your understanding is correct.  I mean, the simple answer is we didn't have all the costs amassed at the time -- 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So --


MR. SMITH:  -- of the IR. 


MS. LEA:  So at the time that you answered the interrogatory, the $1.8 million that we see on J1.1, that information was not available to you at that time?  


MR. SMITH:  Correct. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, you also estimated another $2.05 million in estimated further costs.  So in June of 2013, you believed that the incremental costs that were coming forward were another about $2.05 million?  


MR. SMITH:  Correct.  And the reason for that is, in June of 2013, when the IR was filed, our target and our full expectation -- and in fact it is in the application -- was that we would be completing the transaction as of January 1, 2014, so at the end of the year, just to prevent my further confusion.  So we expected this to be wrapped up in approximately a year.  Our target at that time was to begin a cost-of-service application in and around August, perhaps September of 2012 -- 2013, again for completion at the end of 2013.  


However, things prolonged.  Things went on.  There are a couple of things -- significant events that happened that I am fully prepared to discuss and elaborate upon, but suffice it to say that the timeline lengthened significantly, and largely because of that lengthening of the time frame the costs expanded beyond what we originally estimated in mid-2013. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And part of the difficulty that I think I am causing for you, if we scroll up to the first page of the attachment, please, on this interrogatory, the first page of the attachment, you will see that this letter is dated June 18, 2012.  The letter, the attachment, is dated June 18, 2012, despite the fact the interrogatory was answered in June of 2013.  


So at the time of the filing of the interrogatory, the estimate you provided was still a 2012 estimate, and you had no further information to provide at that time.  Is that right?  


MR. SMITH:  It was incorrect.  


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  What was incorrect?  


MR. SMITH:  Our estimate was incorrect --


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. SMITH:  -- as was borne out in the fullness of time. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So that estimate of about $2.415 million that you made, what was that -- oh, never mind.  I'm sorry.  I can look at that in the attachment.  One moment, please. 


Now, you filed an updated licence application on October 1, 2013, I believe.  And that updated application is at tab 5 of the exhibit book.  But the cost estimate at that time remained $1 million.  Why was that not updated?  It's at Section 6.5, the blue page.  You will see that, because it is blue, it is updated and some of it was updated, Section 6.3, for example.  But the preliminary estimate was not changed at October of 2013.  Can you assist us as to why that was the case?  


MR. SMITH:  The main reason for the filing of the update was to discuss the change in route of the underlying assets.  Originally, the application envisioned a single dual-circuit line going autonomously from the station at Bruce to the switching station at Milton.  


In around, I will say, July, approximately, of 2013, from our engineers, we came to understand that there was actually a junction at approximately Highway 7 that causes a switch in the assets.  Due primarily to land issues, the line is actually built -- the new line is built on the north side of the existing line for about 90 percent of the distance, and then at Highway 7, the new line is actually built on the south side of the existing line.  It is not an uncommon practice to hook lines across like that.


However, what it meant for the partnership is that either we had to, I'll say, compile a pair of disparate assets or we go with a single contiguous line that could be managed independently.  In consultations with our partners and otherwise, we determined the best option was to go with a contiguous line.  What that did is it caused the asset value that was originally expected to be about $600 million to drop to approximately $525, and that was the reason for the update.  


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. SMITH:  At the time of the update, we were not seeking to update all of the estimates and everything else that was included.  We indicated in the IR the costs would exceed $1 million, and at the time of the update, our objective wasn't to go through and update every cost.  It was primarily to advise the Board as quickly as possible of the material change in the application, given the change in the asset.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  But there was no change in the estimate.  So on the record, we had the total preliminary estimate of that incremental one-time cost of $1 million, with the caveat that it was likely to be greater.  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  And in the Interim Rates Application, which was made -- well, the Decision and Order was dated December 11, 2014.  I think you have the interim rates -- yes, in late 2014, you made the application. 


My understanding is there were no start-up costs included in the requested revenue requirement for the interim rates.  Is that correct?  And you indicated that they would be included in the final rate application.  


MR. SMITH:  Exactly.  We didn't provide a detailed schedule of the costs.  We indicated they would be part of a future -- a near-term cost-of-service application.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Now, when you were -- going back then to the beginning of the formation of the partnership and the work towards making this happen, did you establish a target budget for the costs of forming the partnership and bringing it to fruition?  


MR. SMITH:  An overall total budget would have been almost impossible to establish.  This was brand-new ground.  This was a new partnership that had never been done before.  I think Randall explained very well how this -- this couldn't be estimated.  There was no playbook, I think, was his term, and that is exactly correct. 


So for us to come up with a cost estimate of something that had no playbook, something that, you know, could not be quantified, we did set some targets in terms of what we had hoped they would cost.  But we couldn't -- they didn't manifest in terms of a budget that we intended to speak to. 


MS. LEA:  How did those targets compare to what the eventual cost was?  


MR. SMITH:  They were lower, and that is primarily because of the prolonged time frame that I explained before.  


There is really two aspects.  I talked about the one, which is the material change in the nature of the asset from our original application. 


The other -- and I think it is very important that people understand this -- is the concept of pari passu.  That is a Latin term, and it means common stride.  What it means in financial terms is that creditors are given equal footing. 


What we know is that for their investment, they were seeking a guarantee under the Aboriginal Loan Guarantee Program from the Ontario Finance Authority, the government.  The maximum allowable under the ALGP is $50 million; they needed $72 million. 


Everything was going fine, and the creditors, who were prepared to advance the other $22 million, were primarily relying upon the government's due diligence to do their due diligence in terms of the creditworthiness of the loan.  In a nutshell, if the government was prepared to back up the $50 million, the creditors were prepared to back up the $22 million. 


However -- and Colin can attest to this -- partway through and, quite frankly, out of the blue, the government said that they would not accept pari passu.  What that means is they had to be front in line in terms of recovery of the debt.  That one small thing created an enormous task for us to go away. 


Suddenly the creditors for the extra $22 million, quite understandably, became very nervous.  They now were behind the government for the extra $22 million and were not prepared to do the financing at the same terms and the same credit terms as the original $50 million. 


Therefore, we spent -- and, again, Colin can testify to this as well.  That took months to overcome that difference, and I couldn't estimate exactly, but enormous amount of cost.  It took new agreements.  It took new understandings, all of which had to be vetted by counsels because it was a material change in the fundamental nature of this deal was that small item from the provincial government.  That is one of the big things that prolonged everything.  


And it is important, I think, that the Panel understand that that one small change by the government cost us -- again, I couldn't offer an exact estimate, but it would be fair to say millions of dollars.  


MS. LEA:  Did you have discussions between the various partners to the agreement, including the Saugeen Ojibway Nation, about budgets and cost control, and how to manage these costs for starting up the enterprise?  


MR. SMITH:  Did -- sorry, did we instruct them how to manage their costs?  


MS. LEA:  Did all of the partners discuss how best to impose cost control or to manage the costs of starting up the partnership?  


MR. SMITH:  I mean, it was understood that we wanted to manage our costs prudently.  However, we didn't pretend to advise them how to manage their costs specifically.  


MR. SALTER:  And if I could just add, all of the expenditures that are under the SON costs went into Hydro One for review as part of the process in the funding letter.  So there was an ongoing discussion constantly about the appropriateness of every cost submitted.  


MS. LEA:  What was the result of those discussions?  


MR. SALTER:  Most of those costs were paid.  Occasionally, ones were identified that we thought maybe would cause confusion, and they were excluded.  


MS. LEA:  Was there a danger -- I don't know if Mr. Kahgee or Mr. Salter should answer this, but was there a danger, or were you afraid that the Saugeen nation, that your nation might be on the hook for these costs?  


MR. SALTER:  Actually, I don't think that fear played a big role in what we were doing.  We had five to seven years of engagement with Hydro One, trying to achieve this incredible agreement, and we built up a strong relationship and an understanding that we were doing everything in our power to find a mechanism that would allow SON to take an equity participation in the Bruce-to-Milton line as a way of accommodating what former Chief Kahgee said.  


And we always looked at it on our side that we had built what I think is a province-leading mechanism to do so.  But if this mechanism failed in some way -- and it had a bunch of hurdles that were outside of our control, including approvals by this Board -- that we would still be back having the same discussion on using different mechanisms.  We are fortunate, however, that the mechanisms that we spent so much time developing have been successful to this point.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  

Now, the $7.7 million in costs that are before us today, are all the invoices in, paid?  There is no more to come for the start-up?  


MR. SMITH:  That's correct.  That's the final total. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.  


Now, I wonder if we could look at -- at tab 4, again, in the exhibit book, which is the Staff IR 9 from the Licence and Asset Transfer Hearing, there is a mention there of participant funding costs.  And if I look at the response, please, it says:

"The term 'participant funding' has been used to describe the advancement of funds for third-party expert advice and related costs that the SON is expected to incur with respect to entering into the transaction."


Is that the same as these start-up costs?  


MR. SMITH:  Without the full context of the entire -- yes, I believe that's -- the participant funding in this case was referring to those start-up costs. 


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Great.  If it turns out that -- I'm sorry.  If it turns out that is incorrect, you can let us know, preferably before my argument this afternoon. 


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  So could Hydro One have sought a deferral account at that time for the participant funding costs that it was going to provide?  


MR. SMITH:  We don't believe so.  And the reason is because these were B2M LP -- envisioned to be B2M LP costs.  


MS. LEA:  They were envisioned to be paid by B2M?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  And they were, ultimately.  


MS. LEA:  Do you know what the total cost would be now if an account had been set up and had been accruing interest for these costs over the time period?  


MR. SMITH:  I believe the estimate we had, if we had interest improved, was 140,000, but otherwise the costs would be exactly the same as they are now. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I wonder if we could look at the attached letter to that interrogatory, and it is paragraph 10 that I was wanting to look at, please.  And when we look at this provision -- and I did attempt to understand it -- as I read it, B2M is to attempt to recover the start-up costs through its rate or revenue requirement application, but if that recovery is denied, these costs are to be treated as an equity investment by Hydro One.  Is my understanding correct?  


MR. SMITH:  Not exactly.  If costs are disallowed -- and this is a very important point, I think, to understand.  If these start-up costs are disallowed, these are costs of the partnership.  The partnership is obviously owned approximately 34 percent by the SON and approximately 66 percent by Hydro One Networks.  The deficit in those start-up costs will be funded by the partnership which, by association, is funded by the two partners, being that it is a limited partnership.  So understand very clearly that if significant costs are disallowed, that this will cost the SON and Hydro One. 


In terms of the equity portion, B2M is set up to be a limited partnership.  Therefore, all funds flow to the limited partners.  It does not have cash reserves typically in its bank account.  It has access to funds, if necessary, for operational reasons.  


So if there is a significant shortfall that caused money to be called, a call would be put out to the partners, and in the event that Hydro One had to overcontribute to that call, then the contemplation in the agreement was that would be turned into equity units of Hydro One.  


So, directly speaking, a lack of recovery of the start-up costs does not automatically lead to additional equity for Hydro One.  But be very clear that any disallowance costs Hydro One and the SON.  


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Salter --


MR. SALTER:  May I add something to that?


MS. LEA:  Sure, although I will be asking someone to explain why that appears to be different than the last sentence of paragraph 10.  I just need to understand whether this last sentence is actually inaccurate, then, because that is not how I read it.  So I just want to make sure I understand what's the actual truth of the matter.  


MR. SALTER:  Sure.  The way the ownership percentages were determined was based on the allocation of the equity invested by the partners.  That is how we arrived at the 34 percent and roughly 66.  


The way that's determined is how much equity each partner put in.  And because it's not an expansion of the total amount of equity, it's the way this provision reads, and this is the agreement between the parties at the time was that Hydro One would be able to contribute the amount of equity that SON failed to pay.  


So what that would do -- and I am trying to put it in plain language -- is it would change the percentage ownership between the parties.  It would dilute SON and increase the percentage for Hydro One, which would have a real financial impact on SON, on their expectations of what all this effort has been trying to do to bring back some of this economic benefit to their communities. 


So there is a real stake here in the treatment of these costs for not only the treatment of these costs now, but for the ongoing sharing of revenue between the partners through the life of this project.  The stakes are quite high.  


MS. LEA:  So if I can, then, perhaps paraphrase what I have heard.  Despite this sentence in this letter, this last sentence here, if you just read it, I would suggest that it says that, if cost recovery through rates, B2M's rates, is not possible, the amounts -- and the amounts referred to here are costs pertaining to the completion of the transaction and the participant funding, I suppose -- the amounts will be treated as part of the equity investment by the limited partner that is wholly owned by Hydro One in the limited partnership.


So do I understand that Hydro One will not absorb all of those costs, that Saugeen Nation will absorb some of them, and, further, if there is a change in the way these  -- in the recovery of these costs, this affects the partnership agreement or the percentage of the partnership?  Sorry, this is kind of new evidence to me, because I read this sentence and I thought I know what this says.  


MR. SALTER:  I totally understand.  We have the benefit of many years of looking at this.  


MS. LEA:  That's why you're on the witness stand.  


MR. SALTER:  I think the way to look at it is, is that the equity is fully funded by both the partners now.  Hydro One has put in all its equity.  SON has put in all its equity.  Our ownership percentages are established.  Our share of the net wealth is projected and established.  


What this says is we actually get -- the amount of equity required to be a part of this partnership is slightly higher than what was before, because we had these costs disallowed, God forbid.  Okay?


So that means that -- 


MS. LEA:  Sorry, just to stop you to make sure I understand, so Hydro One's level of equity would be higher if the costs are disallowed?  


MR. SALTER:  Well, the way this provision works is --


MS. LEA:  Okay. 


MR. SALTER:  -- that Hydro One -- that would be treated as a new equity call back to the partners. 


MS. LEA:  Yes, yes, yes.


MR. SALTER:  And so if SON couldn't come up with the money -- 


MS. LEA:  Uh-huh. 


MR. SALTER:  -- and you can see how hard it was for us to get the initial $76 million -- 


MS. LEA:  Yes. 


MR. SALTER:  -- then Hydro One would fund the SON's portion.  And if it did so, in terms of percentages, that would dilute SON's percentage.  


MS. LEA:  By how much?  Do you know?  


MR. SALTER:  I think -- 


MR. SMITH:  It depends on the call.  I mean, we're talking about an agreement that took years to negotiate.  We're talking about a fine financial point. 


The real point is that this money is owed, that if there was a call, as Colin said, on the partners and the -- both partners weren't able to come up with their share of the shortfall, that would turn into equity.  Hydro One would be the backstop, effectively, and would fund the entire shortfall. 


But the real point of this is -- and I think Colin and I have both said -- that, if there is a significant disallowance of these start-up costs, it goes straight to both partners, approximately two-thirds/one-third, if I can round the numbers.  


MS. LEA:  And if there was a change -- I am sort of going out on a limb here -- if there was a change in the equity positions of the partners, would that change anything to do with the tax exempt status?  


You are shaking your head, but I need a verbal answer.  


MS. BARAGETTI:  No.  


MS. LEA:  So the amount that each of these partners own is not something that drives the degree of taxes you save, the amount of taxes you save? 


MS. BARAGETTI:  The tax exempt status of the SON partner would not be impacted.  The allocation of the income would be impacted. 


MS. LEA:  Right, yes. 


MS. BARAGETTI:  And, therefore, the cash taxes would be impacted, because, if there is a greater amount of income that is allocated to the Hydro One partners, there is going to be an increase in the tax cost.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I would like to ask -- and I recognize I won't probably get the answer before my argument today, but it would be useful to have it for the Board's consideration in the future.  


I would like to ask the applicant to consider providing the amount that a disallowance would cause to change the sharing in equity of the partnership.  What dilution would occur as a result of, let's say, the disallowance of the whole $7.7 million?  If that were to occur, what would be the change in the equity sharing, and what would be the change in the cost of taxes --  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  -- and, therefore, the revenue requirement request possibly or the effect on the revenue requirement of B2M?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Can we call that undertaking K1.1?  And I will label it "effect of disallowance of start-up costs."  


If there is anything further -- and again I am willing to live with the idea that I don't get this before my argument, but the Board needs to know.  If there is anything further you wish to add to that undertaking that hasn't been testified to here today, I think that the Board would probably be open to hearing about that. 


MR. ROGERS:  We will undertake to provide the information my friend has requested.  And if there is anything further that would assist the Board in understanding the implications of a disallowance, we will include it.  It is a very important issue. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you. 

Undertaking NO. K1.1:  To provide the effect of disallowance of start-up costs and any further related information

MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Now, my original allotment was to 11:30, and I got an extra five minutes from the break.  But my cross-examination, given how difficult that was to go through, is probably an additional 10 minutes in length.  May I proceed?  


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I am just going to take a moment to think.  


Okay.  My extremely helpful advisers have suggested another question which might assist us.  Is there an option for Hydro One to cover these costs, if they were disallowed, but to not opt to change the ownership structure of this entity?  I am willing to receive that as part of that undertaking or an additional undertaking, if it is problematic to answer it now.  


Is your mic on?


MR. SMITH:  I think so.  There are tons of options, and we went through those over years.  This was the agreement that the two parties signed.  To speculate about what could happen, I am not sure it is helpful, frankly, because this is the agreement that was signed between the parties, and that is the agreement that -- a commercial partnership we have embarked upon, that we have agreed to live by.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


Turning then to a few questions about actual operations, maintenance and administration costs, please, that have been filed.  As I understand it, when the Interim Uniform Transmission Rates were set for 2015, a revenue requirement amount of about $40.6 million was removed from Hydro One and allocated to B2M.  Is that right?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. LEA:  And that amount included about $853,000 for OM&A expense?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  But we see a request here for OM&A figure of $1.8 million for 2015.  I know we discussed this briefly at the technical conference, but can you explain to us what derives difference of about $1 million for 2015 O&M between what Hydro One would have expected to pay and what B2M now expects to pay?  


MR. SMITH:  Can I call you to Exhibit C1, tab 2, Schedule 1, page 2?  


MS. LEA:  Please.  


MR. SMITH:  Thanks.  


MS. LEA:  And it is before us on the screen, yes.  


MR. SMITH:  The difference to which you refer is entirely included in the incremental expenses line, which – that's the fourth line you see there. 


MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm, yes. 


MR. SMITH:  That is the amount entirely. 


MS. LEA:  And that is the start-up costs?  


MR. SMITH:  No.  If you turn to page 5 of the same exhibit –-


MS. LEA:  Yes. 


MR. SMITH:  -- there you have in front of you, that details the $1 million.  I can go through each one of  those --


MS. LEA:  No. 


MR. SMITH:  -- to explain, but those are the -- that is the detail, and that is the entire difference from that interim filing to the cost-of-service filing. 


MS. LEA:  So the fact that B2M has to find its own insurance, fund its own regulatory expenses, now has to have a managing director's office, et cetera, this is what is driving a revenue requirement higher than what would have been found -- would have been paid by Hydro One? 


MR. SMITH:  That is what is driving the increase in the OM&A costs, yes. 


MS. LEA:  What about in 2016?  There is, I think, about a $500,000 difference between what was removed from Hydro One and what B2M now expects to pay. 


MR. SMITH:  Generally speaking, on a steady state, the incremental costs are about half a million dollars, as you can see in 2016, 2017, 2018.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  But it is driven by the same costs?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Regulatory is a periodic cost, so it only appears twice on that table. But the others appear in the amounts shown. 


MS. LEA:  So why is it of benefit to transmission ratepayers to pay these extra OM&A costs?  


MR. SMITH:  Well, the benefits to ratepayers really come out of the partnership itself.  


These costs are necessary and prudent in operating and maintaining the partnership.  So without these costs, the partnership could not operate feasibly.  And in terms of the benefits of the partnership, I think we've gone through those to some extent.  Being it was on a commercial footing, there are tax savings. 


Over the life of the asset, ratepayers benefit from this partnership on a net basis.  However, frankly, I don't want to elaborate on the tax savings, simply because they're not dramatically significant over the course of time.  Our estimate is something in the neighbourhood of $16 million over the life of the asset, which is meaningful.


But the real benefits of this partnership, way above and beyond the small amount of tax savings over the life of the asset, really come from -- this was one of the first opportunities to work with First Nations on a commercial basis, and I think Randall did a great job of expanding on that.  But this is really a watershed moment for infrastructure development in this province.  


And finally, and I am not sure this is well understood, but the circumstances surrounding the Bruce-to-Milton line it is important to understand.  It was originally conceived in around 2005-2006, and the reason for its creation was to bring generation from the Bruce area down to Milton. 


Now, what's probably known then, but perhaps not recalled now was that the restart of the nuclear units at Bruce were on a take-or-pay basis from the provincial government.  Those units were going to start, and the government was going to pay.  However, transmission was constrained.


Moreover, that area is one of the real hotbeds for renewable generation.  There was approximately 1,000 to 1,500 megawatts of potential renewable generation that was to come online in that area. So you had thousands of megawatts coming on effectively a take-or-pay basis that had to have transmission to get power from the Bruce area to the primary load area in the province, which, of course, is the Greater Toronto Area.  That line had to be built, and it had to be on time.  Through the agreements and through the consultations that the partners had, it was done on a timely basis.


Now, we have an example, which is the Niagara Reinforcement Project, which was the subject of a disruption, and it stands idle today, unfinished.  That project has cost ratepayers over $54 million in interest since it was stopped, and that project is approximately one-seventh the size of the Bruce-to-Milton.  


So without doing any sort of spreadsheets or math or anything else, you can imagine the enormous cost to the ratepayers of Ontario had that line not been built, both in terms of the obligations of the government on the take-or-pay agreements of the thousands of megawatts that were necessary for the system, but also the outright costs that we've seen on Niagara reinforcement that would have been many times that size had Bruce-to-Milton gone through a similar circumstance. 


So this partnership was essential because it was essential to build that line on time, and the -- well, I will be frank at the risk of being provocative -- the few scant thousands of dollars that we're talking about here absolutely pale materially to the importance of making sure that that line was built on time and that line was built on time through the cooperative effort of the partners that we have today that, through the commercial agreement we have forged, are now providing benefits to ratepayers of Ontario for generations.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And I think you began by saying also that there is a clear benefit of having a partnership with First Nations that is not, if I can put it this way, measured in monetary terms?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  That sets us up well for future generations in terms of allowing these type of commercial partnerships to exist. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


Turning to the office costs, then, of the managing director's office.  So, Mr. Penstone, we're picking on you for a moment.  I am looking at Exhibit C, tab 2, Schedule 1, at page 5, and you will see that this is on the screen.  You have the incremental OM&A costs there.  In 2015, it is $500,000, and then it reduces to $200,000 over the remaining rate term.  And we talked about this at the technical conference at pages 37 to 40, which I don't need to turn up.  What is it that is being covered in 2015 that will not recur in the following years?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So I'm going to use the term "start-up costs," but I want to make it clear it is not the same start-up costs that have been discussed over the last several minutes.  So these are basically the costs to establish the office, everything from computers to phones to an Internet service provider, to creating a website.  These are all of the logistical aspects of creating an office and an operation that passes mustard with the Canada Revenue Agency.

MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  Okay.  Now, you also mentioned, I think, that there was -- and we heard this from Mr. Kahgee again this morning -- there is a committee, an advisory committee, being set up, but their efforts will be ongoing over the five-year period.  Is that right?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 


MS. LEA:  Are there any more costs for education or setup of that committee in 2015 than there are in following years?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So...


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. PENSTONE:  So within these costs, a consideration in developing this particular budget was the capacity-building and education of the SON partner.  They made it clear from the outset -- and I think Randall referenced this in his remarks -- that this is a partner that seeks to be engaged and wants to understand the business and wants to have a clear understanding of the electricity sector.  So they are using their ownership in the -- or partial ownership in B2M LP as a vehicle to, frankly, provide additional information and inform them on the broader electricity sector.  So, as part of that, there is an element that is accounted for in these numbers to provide that sort of capacity building.  


MS. LEA:  And should that capacity building for general knowledge be included in B2M's revenue requirement?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, in our opinion, yes.  


MS. LEA:  Why?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, I think it is no different than, if you take a look at any large corporation or large utility, there is always an allowance for training and development.  And training and development costs are recovered, you know, as part of an ongoing cost of doing business in any corporation.  So we view this as training and development of the partner.  


MS. LEA:  My last question relates to the revenue that you received in late 2014.  I think that the record shows that B2M received $1.657 million in revenue in 2014, and the expenses for the same period were a depreciation of $289,000 as well as the start-up costs, which I am just going to leave aside for a moment.  


What was that revenue used for once you paid the depreciation?  Because it's shown as an offset to the OM&A and the depreciation, but I don't see a reduction in the $7.7 million of start-up costs as a result of that revenue.  Where did the rest of the revenue go?  


MR. SMITH:  What you're looking at is an income statement.  So expenses aren't lowered on an income statement due to the acquisition of revenue.  So I must admit I am a bit confused by the question. 


I mean, the revenue comes in, pays expenses, and then is amassed in order to pay dividends on a quarterly basis to the partners.  


MS. LEA:  Maybe you can just educate me, then.  That revenue came in, and it paid which expenses?  


MR. SMITH:  From a cash perspective, there were no material expenses at the time.  There was...


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. SMITH:  So, I mean, from the, I will say, the second half of December, there were no material expenses.  Depreciation, as I'm sure you're aware, isn't a cash expense that you --


MS. LEA:  Right. 


MR. SMITH:  -- pay --


MS. LEA:  Right, okay. 


MR. SMITH:  -- by cheque or anything.  And the start-up costs, they currently sit on the balance sheet of B2M as a liability to Hydro One.  They remain there, subject to the disposition of this -- they will be paid before the end of this year, that debt.  


MS. LEA:  They're recorded as a liability to Hydro One?

MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  I see.  To pay Hydro One?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. LEA:  So perhaps I am just, you know, being stupid about this, but was the revenue then used for dividend payments, or is it...  


MR. SMITH:  Ultimately that is the largest cost of the partnership is the dividend payments, yes.  


MS. LEA:  I see.  So --


MR. SMITH:  And debt payment, sorry, by the way, too. 


MS. LEA:  So it was used for dividend and debt payments?  


MR. SMITH:  Materially, yes.  Substantially.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  One moment, please.


Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, for your indulgence in allowing me to continue.


Witnesses, thank you so much for your answers to my questions.  I appreciate it.


MR. ROGERS:  If I may, I think Mr. Salter wanted just to add something to --


MS. LEA:  Oh, certainly.


MR. ROGERS:  -- the last response, Ms. Lea, if he could be permitted. 


MR. SALTER:  Yes.  I can't tell if that is on.  Yes, thank you.  


I just wanted to return to the question previous about the capacity that is built -- the capacity funding that is built into the incremental OM&A.  


MS. LEA:  Yes. 


MR. SALTER:  And I think that one of the reasons we worked so hard to build a system that really allowed SON to be owners and participate in the wealth and decision-making of this line throughout its life was because it was fundamental to building not only the agreement of this generation, but generations to come as this line sits there.

And so I think -- I'm not sure I fully agree with the way that Mr. Penstone construed it -- that efforts we're spending now to educate the SON and committee members and also the SON council are fundamental to understanding that this long-term relationship they've got into and this deal they've got into is not just about this generation.  It is about all those future generations as well. 


And so the reason we structured the deal this way is to get that long-term objective of aligning the interests, and the capacity funding that we're spending over the years in these advisory committees, in other words, is fundamental to making sure that understanding survives today and grows through the life of the project.  I just wanted to say that.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Anything further?  I am done.  Thanks very much.  Those are my questions.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  I think CME is next.  Ms. Blanchard.  

Cross-Examination by Ms. Blanchard: 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thanks very much.  Now, I'm going to have to apologize in advance because I may have to jump around a little bit, only because I think that Ms. Lea has actually covered quite a few items that we intended to touch on.  So I will try not to duplicate or jump around too much.  


But I want to go back to this $10 million envelope.  We talked about it a little bit, and I think a useful reference is at tab 3 in the Board Staff evidence compendium, which is the response to IR No. 7 from -- I will just call it the transfer approval proceeding.  


And so we were talking a little bit about this $1 million which was originally sort of -- let's just call it a placeholder for start-up costs.  And I believe your evidence was, you know, we always knew it would be more, and we were sort of looking at $10 million as our outside limit, in effect.  So we came in with one, but we looked at 10 million as kind of -- 


MR. SMITH:  One of our objectives was to maintain its net benefit to ratepayers, and the $10 million at that time was the estimated net benefit.  So we wanted to stay within that.  That is -- the "envelope" word is probably appropriate that way. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  If you turn the page in the same IR response -- and now we're on 7.5 -- you have a little summary of how you are calculating that $10 million envelope.  The way I read this is that you're already at $8.8 million in incremental costs -- 


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  -- when you are calculating that.  So I guess, to put it another way, I read this to mean that you essentially have $1.2 million of, call it, freeboard, not $9 million worth of freeboard. 


MR. SMITH:  I think it would be helpful to clarify what is meant by NPV of incremental costs.  You're referring to Section 7.5? 


MS. BLANCHARD:  I am, yes. 


MR. SMITH:  That is the total incremental cost.  There’s two aspects.  There is the start-up costs that is the 7.7 upfront cost we have been talking about. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes. 


MR. SMITH:  There is also what we talked about at the end, which is the annual incremental costs, the – it was about $500 million, I believe, on a steady state basis. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right. 


MR. ROGERS:  $500 million?  


MR. SMITH:  Excuse me, $500,000.  


MS. LEA:  Put the order of magnitude. 


MR. SMITH:  Let the record show that is thousand, not million.  


[Laughter].  


MR. SMITH:  You think ahead of about four words, so --the $8.8 million in that section is the net present value of all of the incremental costs, the start-up plus the annual incremental costs, so the total cost over the life of the agreement as it was at that time.  And so that's where that estimate comes from.  That is a net present value of all of those costs over time.  So that is where the $10 million was a net benefit, including the start-up costs at that time. 


Now, that estimate was done almost three years ago.  So obviously things have changed significantly, not only on the start-up costs, but on the incremental costs, like the incremental annual costs, as well.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  So just bear with me, but am I to understand that there's essentially two $10 million envelopes, one which is a transaction cost envelope and --  


MR. SMITH:  No. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Because I keep flipping back and forth. 


MR. SMITH:  Right.  Forgive me if I am not explaining it well.  Forget the incremental costs for a second.  The net present value of the benefit, the isolation, is what?  Twenty million, 19 million, as you see there.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  


MR. SMITH:  And our estimate at that time -- and I keep prefacing with "at that time" because we know it has changed significantly since then. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right. 


MR. SMITH:  At that time, the net present value estimate of all of the developmental costs, be they upfront or annual, was about $9 million.  So that gets you to 10. 


So there’s no second $10 million.  It was 19 of outright tax savings versus 10 upfront.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay. 


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, nine of costs.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So we're really just talking about how much we erode the actual benefit?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes, correct.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So you were working with a benefit to ratepayers of $10 million.  And at the time, you were estimating $1 million in transaction costs, and we all appreciate that you expected that to go up.  But we're now talking about $7.7 million; so we have gone from $1 to $7.7 million, which is material.  


And with that in mind, I guess I want to go back to a few questions that Ms. Lea asked about what was expected of the participants in terms of managing those costs over time.  And I want to put aside what happened, I understand, in 2014, which sort of shook up the deal for a moment. 


But when you started out, so you sit down and start to negotiate this, you know it is a ground breaking, new initiative.  Did you -- was there any discussion about going out to a public tender for, for example, legal services?  


MR. SMITH:  We never contemplated a public tender.  


I mean, you know, the SON had its counsel.  I will let Colin comment about their selection.  I think it was a good one, but --


[Laughter] 


So, yeah, in terms of trying to, you know, drive down costs through, you know, procurement measures with respect to legal fees, no, we didn't employ any of those methods.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  And does Hydro One ever employ that kind of method when looking at a significant piece of legal work?  


MR. SMITH:  We do take bids on different pieces of work, certainly.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  And did you in this case?  Hydro One  -- when I say "you" now, I mean Hydro One as a partner in the negotiation.  


MR. SMITH:  Well, again, my colleagues can probably wax about this more.  But in a ground-breaking deal -- and I won't continue with -- we all agree this was a fundamental and novel undertaking.  We sought out and acquired counsel from Oslers who had done the Lower Mattagami deal.  Some of them are probably familiar; the people who are in this room would probably be familiar with our counsel on that case. 


We knew this was going to be different and difficult.  So we sought out what we thought was the counsellor that gave us the best opportunity for success, and we didn't try to drive down specifically his cost in terms of rates or anything like that.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  So there was -- 


MR. SMITH:  We didn't try to put it to tender to see who else was available.  He did that.  That was a very specific comparable deal that we thought had good currency, so we sought him out.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  I don't know if you will know the answer to this, but what was the order of magnitude of costs on that deal that you are mentioning?  


MR. SMITH:  I don't know.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  I guess I would put a similar question to the SON.  You're going into a massive negotiation.  Is there a discussion about rates or discounts or, you know, we're going to put 5,000 hours?  I think that was your evidence at the technical conference.  Was there any discussion about how that was going to be managed, or --


MR. SALTER:  I mean, we have a long-term working relationship -- Pape Salter Teillet does -- with the SON and so -- and we were involved at all of the early stages in the setup of this around the engagements with Ontario and the environmental approvals.  And we also had the benefit of being the lawyers on the Lower Mattagami deal as well.  


So I am not sure -- I can't speak for the SON's thinking, but certainly we were well placed to do this in the most efficient manner possible.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Are you able to speak at all about the order of magnitude of costs on the Lower Mattagami deal?  


MR. SALTER:  I couldn't speak to what Ontario power generation spent, no.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  I understand that these costs are calculated as of 2012.  So before 2012, were each of the two partners paying their own costs?  


Like, I guess, to put it another way, you had a 2010 accommodation agreement with the province.  Did that agreement provide for the province to cover legal costs?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. ROGERS:  Just while the witnesses are conferring, Mr. Chairman, I'm having trouble understanding how this is relevant.  They're not being claimed in this case. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I am just trying to understand sort of the historical -- like, the history of when these retainers started, how they were negotiated, and whether there are other, let's say, third parties who could be looked to, to cover some of these costs.  


For example, is there any opportunity to recover some of these costs under the accommodation agreement with the province?  


MR. ROGERS:  I suppose that is a fair question.  


MR. SALTER:  Not that I'm aware of.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so when you say not that you're aware of, are you able to comment on whether or not -- was there -- I guess what I'm asking is:  Was there a moment where, up until a point, the SON's costs were covered by the province, and then there was a contribution agreement signed with Hydro One, and it just sort of changed over that way?  


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me to interrupt.  We're getting into solicitor-client privilege issues here that are making me uncomfortable.  These costs are not being claimed in this case.  Who paid them and how, I submit, is irrelevant and probably gets Mr. Salter into breaches of solicitor-client privilege issues.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, I guess I won't pursue that, then.  


I want to now go to this whole discussion about pari passu.  So you are all negotiating, and then, I guess, to paraphrase, the province pulls the rug out of -- out from under your lenders.  At that point, was there any discussion with the province about the impact that that was likely to have on the transaction costs?  


MR. SALTER:  Yes.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  And could you elaborate on that at all?  Did they -- well, can you tell me more about it?  


MR. SALTER:  Well, I had the benefit of working on the Lower Metagami's aboriginal loan guarantee application --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay. 


MR. SALTER:  -- and they had changed the rules between that one and this one.  Now, that was a different situation, because there weren't two tranches of borrowing -- but that is not really relevant here today -- that because of the way this deal was structured, that second tranche, right, that 22 million unguaranteed portion, was  -- we had all been developed on the idea that, well, it wouldn't have the guarantee protection.  It would be standing side by each in the very unlikely event that there was a default. 


And, as was explained earlier, the notion is that, when you don't have pari passu, that the unguaranteed tranche may have to wait maybe even decades before it ever gets a chance to be paid back.  So that means that the guaranteed portion -- all the funds coming out of the project that were scooped in the default were going to pay back the guaranteed portion first.  So the unguaranteed lender would have to wait potentially many, many years before seeing any revenue on those amounts. 


So the minute that happened, the minute the Ontario Finance Authority told us that that was their rule, it created a huge amount of work and energy spent by everyone figuring out, oh, my God, the system we had developed doesn't work within the rules now set out by the Ontario Finance Authority for the Aboriginal Loan Guarantee Program.  What are we going to do? 


MS. FRY:  Just a question of clarification:  Are these secured loans or unsecured loans we're talking about?  


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  I did not hear that question.  


MS. FRY:  My question is, just to be clear -- 


MS. LEA:  Are the mics on? 


MS. FRY:  -- are those loans that are guaranteed, are there security documents, or are they unsecured?


MR. SALTER:  Oh, most definitely, they are secured.  The SON's interest in the project and the revenues that flow from it are the security for those borrowings.  But the guarantee for the $50 million first tranche is an additional security to the lenders there and was beneficial to the acquisition of the rate.  


MS. FRY:  Okay.  And in terms of the basic security, I assume $50 million was in first position. 


MR. SALTER:  That is exactly right.  But we had originally envisioned they would sit side by each in parallel, pari passu. 


MS. FRY:  On the security. 


MR. SALTER:  On the security.  And, I mean, obviously from the way the revenues flow out, we had enough funds to both -- fund both mortgage payments on both loans, right, in the revenue stream.  But the lack of pari passu means that all the revenue would be scooped towards the guaranteed loan, and that was our problem.  I hope that answers your question. 


MS. FRY:  Yes, fine.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  I guess the next question is just the timing.  So I am looking at this very helpful timeline.  So just looking at this, I am starting to see amendment -- the word "amendment" popping up a lot sort of close to the end of 2013. 


So would I be right in saying that, when I look at the costs incurred in 2014, it is -- a line item is about 4.2 million -- that a large portion of that 4.2 million is attributable to this change in policy?  


MR. SALTER:  That would be very difficult for me to say.  We've pulled out the pari passu issue as one example of a multitude of complexities that required us to rethink and redo as we were going along, but certainly the reason the number is highest in that time frame is because that is when all the problems needed to be solved and committed to writing.  So I think that that's -- that's why that year, particularly, is the highest.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  And you might have already -- someone might have already said this, but when did you actually anticipate the transactions to close?  


MR. SMITH:  The original expectation was for a closing at the end of 2013, and that is in our 2013 application. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  I would like to go back to the funding agreement between Hydro One and the SON, and Ms. Lea had asked you quite a few questions about it. 


I would like to ask you about paragraph 9, which is on page 19, and that paragraph essentially establishes a protocol for how to deal with a situation where your costs are going to be more than the 2 million that you had budgeted. 


So I guess the first question is:  Can you recall at what point you had the discussions contemplated in paragraph 9?  And so the SON and Hydro One sat down and said, "Okay.  We're going to be over budget."  


MR. SMITH:  So your question is:  At what time did we have those?  


MS. BLANCHARD:  The approximate date.  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. SALTER:  I apologize.  I don't remember the exact date.  But certainly that was an ongoing conversation from a time when we were getting close to that amount and continued as we walked through the process.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  So was there one moment where you submitted a revised budget?  So you had one here that said, "We're going to get through this transaction for 2.4 million."  At some point I'm assuming that an updated budget was prepared.  Is that -- can you speak to that?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. SALTER:  Sorry, just one second.  


[Witness panel confers] 

MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  Again, we can't offer precise dates or anything else.  But as you alluded, there was an estimate, a target, as it were, set originally.  As these new developments -- be they a material change in asset, be they the pari passu, and there is a number of others as Colin alluded, yes, we would have the discussion.  There was - I don't think we signed agreements and prepared formal budgets every single time this happened.  But make no mistake, I mean, the message was sent that we wanted to minimize our costs on this. 


I don't want the impression to be left that this was just a free-for-all with the lawyers spending like sailors, because that's certainly not the case.  I mean, we attempted to be prudent.  I can speak for us.  We held our lawyers to task in terms of the work they did.  And, yes, there were targets reset, but no formal budgets or agreements signed or anything like that every single time we changed it, because it did change multiple times. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  So there was never a point where you  -- I think the total costs that you would have paid under this agreement would have been $4.3 million; correct?  


MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  So was there ever a budget that was prepared that -- was there ever a point where $4.3 million was the budget or something close to that?  Or did you stop -- you sort of stopped trying to project at a point?  That’s, I guess, a double-barrelled question, but --


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. SMITH:  Do we want to take it away?  


MR. ROGERS:  Do the witnesses understand the question? Because I must confess that I didn't.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  I can rephrase it.  Was there ever a budget that was closer to the $4.3 million that was ever prepared where the two parties said, "We have a funding agreement.  We're going to pay up to $4.3 million or something close to it"?  


MR. SMITH:  I don't know.  We didn't sign formal agreements to that.  But was there a budget constructed back then?  Yeah, I would have to take it away.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  And I guess one last question on the funding agreement is just -- ultimately the funding provided was significantly more than what was initially agreed.  Did you amend other portions of the agreement in connection with the increased funding, or did the agreement stay as is, but the number moved up?  


MR. SMITH:  There was no change to the ANA or the other fundamental agreements because of this, no.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Just a moment.  I'm just -- I may be finished, but I'm just going to make sure.  


Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Next is Mr. Dumka for SEP?  
Cross-Examination by Mr. Dumka:

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.  I am pleased to say that a lot of my questions got eliminated through the cross-examination from Board Staff and from the opening statements this morning, so I expect to -– there's just several questions and that's it. 


I am just looking for some clarification.  I think it's from Mr. Penstone.  It's something that I wasn't going to ask about.  But we had the discussion about cost efficiencies, the agreement with HONI, in terms of providing the vegetation management services.  I thought, in the technical conference, that you, Mr. Penstone, had said -- I didn't hear it this morning -- that there really are economies of scale with the parallel lines.  I think you may have touched on it in passing.  My understanding is you have two sets of lines which are whatever -- within a kilometre of each other, whatever else.  My understanding is the big cost with vegetation management is getting the equipment out there, getting the crews out there, because they're not there, you know, 52 weeks of the year.  So you have this initial setup cost when you are doing something like this. 


So what I was led to believe at the technical conference is that, because of these parallel lines, it, in fact, is costing Bruce-to-Milton less than it otherwise would if it was a separate line, you know, 50 kilometres away or whatever else.  


Is that a correct interpretation on my part?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So you're correct.  I think I mentioned earlier one of the efficiencies that we saw from having HONI do the vegetation management was the fact that we would undertake the vegetation management for the Bruce-to-Milton line at the same time that HONI was undertaking vegetation management for the line that's directly adjacent.  When I say "directly adjacent," it is far less than a kilometre. 


And this was, again, the view, in terms of one of the considerations.  Why did you go to Hydro One Networks?  That was one of the reasons:  that we could ring those efficiencies.  


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is all I was looking for.  


I just wanted to touch base on a couple of items related to the start-up costs issue.  Again, it was Mr. Smith.  You had brought out the background in terms of why the line was needed because of the take-or-pay contracts and everything else. 


So I am stepping back, and I am taking the big picture view.  The ratepayers of Ontario have gotten a number of direct benefits through this partnership with SON.  The line was built on time and efficiently, et cetera.  So the need for the, you know, the pay -- take-or-pay contract, there was no loss of income or revenues to ratepayers that they had to make up for that.  They got the power.  And we've got the smaller benefit of the ongoing tax break through the roughly one-third interest of the SON in the partnership.  


So, again, to a certain degree, we're missing the bigger picture if we're looking at $7.7 million of development costs and the ongoing tax break.  There's been an uncalculated overall benefit going in to now legalizing the partnership, which effectively was, let's say, spiritually there through the construction of the line.  Is that a fair assessment?  


MR. SMITH:  Absolutely, as the timeline, I think, alluded to by Randall early on.  So these negotiations took place before construction of the line.  There was a good faith agreement on behalf of our partners to participate cooperatively and beneficially to the construction of the line, and their assistance in that manner was really, you know, tantamount to helping this get built on time, as you’ve said. 


The quantification of the benefit of having it done on time, it would be a bit of speculation.  But the example we have, as I mentioned before, is Niagara reinforcement.  That cost $54 million in interest and still lays foul awaiting resolution.  


MR. DUMKA:  Right.  


MR. SMITH:  And it is one-seventh of the size of Bruce-to-Milton. 


MR. DUMKA:  So over a 10-year period, we can multiply that number by seven or whatever else and get -- yes.  Okay. 


MR. SMITH:  It would be, you know, fathoms -- quantums beyond the 7.7 that we're discussing today, many quantums.  


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, just one last -- my last question is to do with, again, the effort to set up this new playbook, et cetera.  Would it be fair to say, going forward, after putting in all the time and effort on this, if Hydro One enters into a similar agreement with SON on another project or a different First Nations group, would it be fair to say that the cost, the start-up development cost, having gone through all this, would be lower?  Like, there's an ongoing benefit of having gotten this experience and gotten the decisions from CRA and all this sort of stuff.  Would that be a fair conclusion?  


MR. SMITH:  Well, I mean, part of me says, for the love of God, I hope so, but there would still be significant costs.  I think we have learned a lot, and we would certainly strive to apply those learnings, but every situation is different. 


So I wouldn't want to -- certainly wouldn't want to, on the record, state that the next one will be cheaper, necessarily.  


MR. DUMKA:  Maybe a fair way of summarizing it is it would be cheaper than it otherwise would have been not having this experience. 


MR. SMITH:  I think that is definitely fair, yes. 


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  And I have got a similar question for SON, which is, again, is it a fair conclusion that, if SON enters into another partnership, let's say with some of the Green Energy or whatever -- I'm just throwing that out as an example -- would it be fair to say that, again, the cost of setting up a partnership would be lower than it otherwise would be, not having gone through this experience with B2M?  Is that fair?  


MR. KAHGEE:  I believe that's fair.  


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  All right.  That's it.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Dumka.  


Questions from the Panel?  


Mr. Quesnelle.  

Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one area of clarification, and perhaps you could help me out, Mr. Penstone.  It was going back to the area -- and I forget where it was, but it spoke to the -- Ms. Lea had asked questions on you had four kind of deliverables that we're looking at measurable outcomes.  I recall we had the availability outcome.  And if someone could help me out.  There they are.


So the outcome measures and the one average system availability, and maybe you could help me out here.  Did the first two, system average interruption and interruption duration, did they include planned outages for maintenance?  


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  So the average system availability, does it include planned outages?  


MR. PENSTONE:  This was the one where I admit I have to go back and confirm exactly the math behind that calculation.  I believe it's simply the product of frequency times duration will give you availability.  But I have to confirm that.  But I will say that typically all of these measures relate to forced outages as opposed to planned outages.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So on that -- and I suppose a lot turns on what you describe as being the actual definition of that and the math on it -- the question -- what sparked my concern here is:  In the agreement that you have on the Service Level Agreements, what-have you, any contemplation of prioritization of the maintenance of lines when you are putting in maintenance schedules and satisfying NERC standards and what-have you, as to where in the hierarchy of whether or not it is Hydro One's lines or Bruce-to-Milton's lines, from -- in the operating agreements, does Hydro One have a selection or advice or how are they going to do -- how does Bruce-Milton ensure that it's not put below the rung of Hydro One in this?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So, in that particular case, we would receive from Hydro One a schedule in terms of when they intend to do the work.  We would ensure that that schedule is compliant with the NERC requirements.  And we would also insist that, if there is any change to that schedule, that we would be advised. 


And the other expectation that we would have of Hydro One is, frankly, that that schedule would have enough flexibility within it that, if any unexpected redirection of Hydro One's resources occurred, that we could still comply with the NERC requirements.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there any commercial advantage or disadvantage to the timing of the schedule of the planned outage for maintenance, from your perspective, as Bruce-to-Milton?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So to be clear, are we talking about the maintenance of the circuit or the right-of-way?  


MR. QUESNELLE:  The circuit.  


MR. PENSTONE:  The circuit.  So in terms of the circuit, we could only take planned outages if it was approved by the IESO.  


So, again, Hydro One Networks would identify the need to take a planned outage for whatever reason.  They would have to apply to the IESO, and the IESO would then make a determination in terms of whether the scheduling was appropriate or not. 


If it was of an emergent nature, generally in those circumstances -- I can speak from Hydro One's experience -- Hydro One would force the circuit out of service, and our expectation is that Hydro One, as a service provider, would promptly respond and restore the circuit. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  So in a scenario planning -- or as Bruce-to-Milton, are you satisfied that you are at no commercial risk as to whether or not Hydro One chooses one circuit over another at any given time?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Again, from a planned outage perspective, the maintenance requirement of this line would be prescribed.  So well in advance.  The helicopter inspections, foot inspections, all of that would be preplanned and identified to Hydro One Networks.  Hydro One Networks would then use that and presumably try to coordinate those maintenance activities with their own maintenance activities.  So this is not where you're taking the line out of service.  This is basically to go and verify the condition and state of the lines themselves. 


If there was an occasion when you had to take the line out of service to do planned maintenance, as a result of the inspections, again, we would require Hydro One to undertake that task and undertake it at the time that the IESO gave us permission to take the line out of service. 


So, from a commercial perspective, I think the short answer is no, for all of the reasons I've just described. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.


That is all I had, Mr. Chair.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


Ms. Fry?


MS. FRY:  A couple of questions.  


So if I understood your filings correctly, you're valuing your land rights at between 97 and 98 million.  And you are confirming that's correct?  Yes?

MR. SMITH:  Yes. 


MS. FRY:  I am reading you correctly? 


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  I am unable to hear the question.  I do apologize, Ms. Fry.  I don't know whether your mic is not very efficient -- 


MS. FRY:  Let me move closer to the --


DR. ELSAYED:  Or move to use mine.  


MS. FRY:  Sure.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I apologize. 


MS. FRY:  Well, no, don't apologize.  Can you hear this better?  


MS. LEA:  Yes, absolutely. 


MS. FRY:  Okay.  So I am going to face into the mic rather than facing you as I ask the questions.  Okay? 


So the premise of my questions, which the panel confirmed, is that, according to their filings, they are valuing their land rights at between 97 and 98 million. 


So my question is:  Can you just talk to us about what those land rights comprise and how you arrived at that valuation?


MR. SMITH:  What was transferred from Networks to B2M as part of the asset transfer was -- and forgive my lack of proper legal terms, but it was a perpetual right to use the land that was part of the Bruce-to-Milton project.  Hydro One Networks maintains the actual ownership of all the land of both land rights.  It was the land rights -- it was the right to use the land that was transferred.  However, the value of the land, at least from a utility perspective, is entirely encased in the right to use it as a utility.  Therefore, the value associated with the land as a utility was all transferred to B2M in transferring the right to use that land as a utility. 


MS. FRY:  Okay.  So let me make sure I understand this.  So I think what you're saying, if I'm correct, is that Hydro One had rights-of-way over the entire corridor, and it transferred enough of its right-of-way to B2M to enable the new transmission line to go there.  Is that right?  


MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 


MS. FRY:  Okay. 


MR. SMITH:  It allows B2M to enjoy the land in terms of making use of it in whatever it needs to make use of it to operate its business.  


MS. FRY:  Okay.  Can you just talk to us about how you arrived at the valuation of those rights that were transferred?  


MR. SMITH:  It was equal to the book value that was spent on the land rights in acquiring them as part of the Bruce-to-Milton project originally. 


MS. FRY:  Okay.  Thanks. 


MR. SMITH:  Indefeasible is the term that I didn't get.  Thank you. 


MS. FRY:  Okay.  In your discussion of what your significant business risks are, you have said a variation in revenue would be the major risk and based on peak demand.  So can you just talk generally about how you would have reached your forecast of revenue?  


MR. SMITH:  Do we have Exhibit H handy?  That is the UTR exhibit.  Is it G?  I'm sorry.  The UTR that breaks out all of the transmitters.  I think that might be helpful.  


Is that the 2015 one?  Yes.  Okay.  Can everybody see the -- that is the schedule to set the UTR rates and the percentages paid to the transmitter.  As I'm sure most everyone knows how transmission rates are paid is as a percentage of the total transmission revenue for the entire province.  It is not a matter of how much power goes over our line or their line or anything.  It is a percentage of the total.  So the risk is really in the total peak demand of the system.  


Now, you will also note, if I can point you to the total annual charge determinants -- that is sort of the middle table in the exhibit, total annual charge determinants.  Yes, thank you.

That is the forecast for the total peak determinants in megawatts for the province for the year, and that's produced by Hydro One Networks.  I would have to check precisely where the forecast -- I know it is done in conjunction with the IESO.  But that is the forecast, and we will take it as what it is. 


You will see, under B2M LP, the determinants are zero.  And the reason is because B2M LP does not, in isolation, create any new input or removal from the system of units.  


If you think about Networks for a moment, it takes power -- Networks does -- takes power at its station at the Bruce and delivers power out at its station at Milton.  However, the Bruce-to-Milton line, the assets of the partnership, are really the line in between the stations.  There is not a meter on any of those assets.  There is no additional charge determinants because of that asset that don't already go through another asset.  


So I am not sure if this is helping your question much. 


MS. FRY:  Yes, yes.  


MR. SMITH:  But the point is the risk associated with those are a system-wide risk.  Obviously, weather in the short term is the primary fluctuation to load.  In extremely hot summer or extremely cold winter, increases and vice versa, a moderate, either, decreases the amount of revenue available. 


MS. FRY:  That's fine.  Thank you.  


And my last question is:  Ms. Lea was looking at the page with your strategic objectives and your five-year vision, and she didn't talk about all of the elements.  

And I guess I'm just wondering:  Is it true of all the elements of the strategic objectives and the five-year vision that you would be looking to achieve them through the work that Hydro One is going to be doing for you, or are there any elements there where B2M would actually be doing the operational stuff that would lead to those?  


MR. PENSTONE:  So in terms of injury free, that applies to Hydro One Networks in terms of executing its work. 


Continuous innovation, again it is Hydro One Networks innovating in terms of providing the services to B2M LP. 


Reliable transmission, again all dependent on, frankly, the design and construction of the line that was transferred to B2M LP and the subsequent operations practices that Hydro One Networks will be undertaking on behalf of B2M LP.  


 Protecting the environment, I'm going to say predominantly Hydro One Networks.  I will leave it at that.  I think we're all trying to protect the environment, including our partners, and we take steps to do that.  But, again, it is minimal.  


 The owner's value, ROE, and maintain A credit rating, that applies to B2M LP as the owner.  


And productivity and cost-effectiveness, again, predominantly is as a result of the services provided to us by Hydro One Networks.  


MS. FRY:  Okay.  So except for the owner's value item, I guess what I am hearing is -- if I looked, for example, at your O&M, I would not see any material item referencing those things, aside from what you pay to Hydro One?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. PENSTONE:  So that's correct.  The other elements of O&M, we don't have any direct initiatives to reduce those costs.  But, again, the costs outside of the Service Level agreements are modest in compared to the Service Level Agreement costs. 


MS. FRY:  I am not saying you should or shouldn't.  I am just trying to understand. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes. 


MS. FRY:  Thank you very much.  Thank you for your microphone.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions both related to the start-up cost.  The first question has been addressed, to some degree, but I just want to get some clarification. 


The estimate for that cost seems to have evolved from what I think was an original estimate of $2 million, which was maintained, at least on paper, as late as October 2013 to the actual of $7.7 million in 2014.  


I just want to understand.  At what point was it realized actually that the cost is going to quadruple compared to the original estimate, or was it just the fact that you had to go with the costs as they were incurred up to 2014?  


MR. SALTER:  One clarification, Mr. Chair, that the estimate of costs I think you're talking about at the back of the funding letter, those are the ones you're referring to?  


DR. ELSAYED:  These were costs that were, I believe, mentioned earlier in this hearing.  


MR. SALTER:  So those are only SON costs; the $7.7 include both Hydro One and SON.  So the change in SON costs from the original estimate to the final amount, which was some year and a half later than originally anticipated, went from, I think, $2.1 million roughly to $4.3 million. 


The reason it is $7.7 million is also including all of Hydro One's costs that don't appear on that list, if I have understood you correctly, just as a matter of clarity.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Just to be clear, the $7.7 million, maybe in reference to the chart you have here as well, that was the actual cost, start-up cost --


MR. SALTER:  That's correct. 


DR. ELSAYED:  -- as of 2014 roughly?  


MR. SALTER:  That's correct. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Or as of 2014.  What was the original estimate for that component when the discussion started about the partnership?  


MR. SALTER:  I can see for the SON's costs, which are a component of that 7.7, the original estimate -- 


DR. ELSAYED:  No.  I meant for that cost, the equivalent cost.  What was the total cost estimate?  


[Witness panel confers] 


MR. SMITH:  I am not aware of the original Hydro One estimate either.  


DR. ELSAYED:  So there was no established estimate for the total cost?  


MR. SMITH:  Not formalized, no.  It was anticipated to be much lower than it ended up being, that's for sure.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  I guess my question was:  Did you realize that, as you just went through the process, that it was going to be much higher than anticipated?  


MR. SMITH:  I am not sure there was an epiphany when we knew costs were going to be significantly more.  I guess really the spirit is that we needed to do the agreement; we needed to complete it. 


And while we really did strive to minimize them, we knew those costs had to be incurred in order to get the agreements done.  The complexity and the number of agreements multiplied along with the costs.  You know, we talked at length about the whole pari passu thing.  That created new agreements that had to be forged. 


So it's -- I am not sure there is a particular moment in time -- 


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you. 


MR. SMITH:  -- but it was known partway through that we would be going well beyond our original estimates, yes.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  And there was no deferral account approved previous to capture those costs.  Is that correct?  


MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 


DR. ELSAYED:  There was an interrogatory by OEB Staff, No. 18, that asked you:

"Given that there was no deferral account, what OEB precedent or principle is B2M proposing to recover these costs?"  


And I am not sure, looking at your response, if that question was directly answered.  


MR. SMITH:  There isn't a specific OEB precedent that -- under which we would seek costs.  I mean, the reasons -- and I think we hinted at, but to be clear, the reasons we didn't seek one, (a) there was no existing entity at the time.  When we applied in 2013, there wasn't even a licensee to apply for a deferral account.  And at the same time -- again, repeating myself -- the anticipation was the time frame would be quite short.  So to seek a deferral account for a period of what we thought at the time was months, we didn't go to great length to do that. 


Likewise, when we received the decision in, I believe it was, November of 2013, the decision on the licence, again, we expected to turn the agreement over, quite quickly, and we had made reference in the original application that a cost-of-service application would be coming that would include start-up costs.  


So we, at that time, forged ahead on the assumption that it would be a fairly quick timeline.  As we know, that got prolonged significantly for reasons I think we have talked about. 


Finally, and I think this is the main point is that the start-up costs are in no way hidden or unknown.  From the very, very first application there was talk of start-up.  We said it would be more than a million and within 10, and that is where we ended up.  I think, at most every submission, we reiterated that there would be start-up costs.  There would be a cost-of-service hearing.  We would seek to recover the costs. 


I believe it was -- can you bring up I-1-7?  That is the interrogatory from the original application?  Thank you.


If you look at 7.3, the question is:

"Please confirm that B2M plans to recover the incremental that is one-time and ongoing costs through rates."


And the Answer 7.3 is:

"Confirmed."

So it was extremely plain that we would be recovering. 


As for numerous reasons that we've talked about, the estimates got well beyond what we originally anticipated, but, as we have also mentioned -- I think at length -- in terms of materiality, it is very, very tiny compared to the $1.7 billion of revenue requirement annually in the transmission system. 


And, moreover, I mean, we were operating on good faith with our partners.  At times, we were stretching that good faith, I'll tell you.  And we needed to get this deal done.  So the last thing we would do is going to pause in any manner to challenge the legal costs that were necessarily coming in for all these new sets of agreements.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  These are my questions.  


Mr. Rogers, any redirect?  


MR. ROGERS:  No, sir, I don't believe so.  No.  I'm content.  


MS. LEA:  I just wondered, perhaps I'm being -- trying to clear up everything, but that definition of "system availability," would it be helpful just to have an undertaking to clarify that on the record?  I gather it is a pretty simple thing to clarify.  Would that be agreeable?  


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine, yes. 


MS. LEA:  And then the Board will know, before it makes an order for reporting, exactly what you are going to be reporting on.  So that would be K1.2 if it's acceptable to the Panel, please. 

Undertaking No. K1.2:  To clarify the definition of "system availability"

MS. LEA:  So, I'm sorry.  Can you give me the exact phrase of what you are defining "available" -- maybe we better look at the exhibit.  


MR. PENSTONE:  We will define the term "system availability."

MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  I want to look at the exact reporting piece.


MR. PENSTONE:  Average system availability.


MS. LEA:  Average system availability.  Thank you.  Thanks very much.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  We have allowed for an hour and a half for lunch so that Mr. Rogers has enough time to prepare the argument-in-chief.  Is that okay?  


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's fine.  I can tell the Board, in view of the exhaustive discussion this morning, my argument-in-chief will be very brief. 


I don't know -- Ms. Lea and I have spoken about this.  I hope this is satisfactory to the Board.  The idea, I think, is that I would deliver a very brief summary of my client's position in-chief.  Then the other intervenors and Ms. Lea would deliver oral argument this afternoon, and once I know their position, we would file a written response to those submissions over the next short while.  I hope that is satisfactory to the Board. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, that's fine.  So an hour and a half is okay for a break?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's fine. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  So we will break now, and we will resume at 2:15.  And I would just like to take the opportunity to thank the panel for their cooperation and their help today.  

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:44 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:20 p.m. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Rogers, if you're ready, you may proceed with your argument-in-chief.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, sir.  Before I do that, there is one matter I would like to raise.

Just before the break, Ms. Blanchard was asking questions of, I think, Mr. Salter about another budget of legal costs.  And it's come to my attention over the noon hour there was indeed another so-called budget for legal costs prepared.  There is a letter of October 8, 2014, from Hydro One to the Saugeen Ojibway nation, to their counsel, which sets this out.  


Now, it is complicated.  What I am going to suggest is this:  that the letter itself needs to be explained, and what I propose is that if we can be given an undertaking number, I will just file the letter with an explanation reconciling the numbers so everybody can follow what the budget really was. 


MS. BLANCHARD:  That's fine.  Thank you. 


MS. LEA:  So you wish to make -- 


MR. ROGERS:  My suggestion would be we have an undertaking number for it. 


MS. LEA:  An exhibit number for it?  Do you have it here today?

MR. ROGERS:  I have the letter, but it needs an explanation. 


MS. LEA:  I understand.  So we're at undertaking K1.3. 

Undertaking No. K1.3:  To file the letter of October 8, 2014 from Hydro One to the Saugeen Ojibway nation counsel with an explanation
Submissions by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  Now, with that, I can provide you with a very brief argument on behalf of the applicant, Mr. Chairman and members of the Board. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please. 


MR. ROGERS:  As the Board knows, this application is for the setting of rates for a future-year period, a five-year period, but really there is four years remaining in the period.  It actually involves what is, in effect, a rate decrease for 2015 over the interim rate presently in place. 


I don't propose to review with you today the revenue request for the five-year period and the rate impacts, except to say they're all in the evidence.  And the impact on ratepayers is extremely modest.  


But this is an important case, and the essence of this case, I submit to you, is its novelty.  And that is what I would like to talk about for a little bit this afternoon. 


This is an application by the B2M partnership.  This is a brand-new transmission company, recently authorized by the Board, enabled by the Board in its decision of November 28, 2013.  And I do believe that Ms. Fry and Mr. Quesnelle were on that panel, as a matter of fact; I noted that over the noon hour. 


This is the first application of this new transmitter for a permanent final rate order, and, as you have heard in the evidence, a lot of new ground was broken.  And I submit to you that we, all of us now, are breaking new ground dealing with this application and this new unique partnership and some of the costs implications which arise from it. 


Now, I am not obviously clear or sure of what the intervenors are going to argue about this case.  I know there are a lot of questions about deferral accounts and the Affiliate Service Agreement, annual adjustment mechanisms, proposed outcome measures, and so on.

I don't propose to deal with those today.  I can deal with those in my written response, should it be necessary. 


What I would like to deal with in the brief time available to me today is to just discuss with the Board some of the implications of the history of this case and, most importantly, the recovery of these start-up costs, which, as you heard this morning, is extremely important to our clients, particularly SON.  In fact, I would say that the most important element of this case for our clients is the recovery of these start-up costs in this case. 


Now, Mr. Elsayed, I think you, this morning, asked about a precedent, an OEB precedent, for the recovery of similar costs in other cases.  I don't believe there is a direct precedent, because this is a novel case.  But I will point you to some jurisprudence in some of the Board's own cases, which makes it very clear that you have the power to allow the recovery of these costs, provided you're persuaded they're prudently incurred. 


I will deal with the Board's authority to allow the recovery of these costs shortly.  But, first, I would like to look at the history here, and I would like you to think about the benefits derived from this unique proposal and this unique arrangement when compared with the cost of the $7.7 million we're talking about here. 


Now, it is axiomatic, of course, that costs incurred by a utility to benefit its ratepayers, its customers, should be repaid by those customers.  And this is just such a case, I submit to you. 


Also, it is a principle of regulation that costs, so far as possible, should match the costs and the benefits to the ratepayer.  And I am going to submit to you that, while these costs were incurred over the past three years, they are of immediate benefit to today's ratepayers and, in fact, will benefit ratepayers for the foreseeable future in a very, very significant way.  


So the equities, apart from everything else, justify this company, this new transmission company, to recover the costs it had to necessarily incur to develop this unique partnership which is novel in our province and which, I submit to you, is likely to deal benefits not only for the ratepayers of this company, but for all of us in the future.  


Now, first let me just enumerate some of the benefits, as I see them, after listening to this morning's testimony.


First, the concept of forging a cooperative framework with our First Nations in the economic development of our province's resources is completely in line with government policy and good sense.  


Second, as Mr. Kahgee this morning explained and Mr. Smith chipped in as well, a cooperative attitude on the part of affected First Nations in this project, this huge transmission project, was instrumental in ensuring that this essential line be built on time.  Completion of the line in a timely way avoided potentially huge take-or-pay obligations for the province with respect to nuclear generation and renewable energy projects which were being developed.  


Mr. Smith explained that these costs would swamp the start-up costs incurred in developing the partnership and overcoming the hurdles that were placed before it in order to enlist the cooperation of First Nations and ensure that that line was built on time.  


Now, quite apart from the intangible benefits that can be derived from this partnership, all of which was made possible by the incurrence of this $7.7 million of costs, it couldn't have happened without that work being done.

It's a precedent for future cooperative efforts and for partners to work cooperatively in similar ventures in the future to the benefit of all of us in this province.  


When we look at these costs, $7.7 million is not an insignificant sum, I do agree.  Recall they were incurred over three years by two parties combined facing novel, unique, and difficult legal and regulatory hurdles.  But, remember, that had these costs not been incurred, the ratepayers would not be yielding the benefit of the tax savings that resulted from it, and, in fact, as the evidence shows, would end up paying more than they would, even today with those costs being recovered. 


In other words, the $7.7 million just taken alone just strictly on the present value of the tangible benefits is exceeded by the benefits.  And the ratepayers will be worse off had those costs not been incurred.  Hence. I say that it is right and fitting and appropriate that those costs be recovered from its ratepayers.  


Now, finally, I would like to say about this, that the witnesses explained to you this morning how these costs were incurred over a substantial period of time.  This has been going on for a long time.  There was a spirit of cooperation and goodwill and good faith on the part of the utility and the First Nations in developing this arrangement.  And part of the understanding was, subject, of course, to prudency, that subject to prudency, that an application would be made at the appropriate time so that these costs could be recovered.  And here we are now asking you to allow that to happen.  


I can't overemphasize, I don't believe, the benefits that had been derived from the understanding that these two partners, before they became official partners, and the goodwill that existed between them in order to make this happen before anything was formalized, and I submit to you that unless there is very strong reasons, strong reasons for disallowing these costs, it would be very regrettable if they were disallowed and, thus, seen as some type of reneging on the understanding -- the goodwill and understanding that led to the development of the partnership in the first place.  


Now, of course, this is a commercial arrangement, this partnership between these two entities, as was explained this morning by Mr. Salter and by Mr. Smith.  And it is important, I submit to you -- and Mr. Salter made this point this morning -- it is very important, particularly to SON, but to both parties, that these costs, providing you're satisfied they're prudent, be allowed to be recovered.  The consequence for SON, if any of these costs are disallowed, is very, very significant to them because of their equity dilution, as was explained this morning. 


Now, look, I am not asking you to approve the costs because of that alone, but I am asking you, please, to take into account the harmful impact such a disallowance would have unless there is extremely good reasons for disallowing these costs on the basis of prudence. 


Now, may I just deal briefly with the Board's authority to do what I am asking you to do?  Of course, we all know that the Board allows the recovery of past costs routinely from future customers through deferral accounts.  And we have no deferral account in this case.  Had there been a mechanism for a deferral account to be in place, I don't suppose we would be having any of these discussions today.  They would have been recorded, and then we would be asking you to allow them to be cleared and trying to persuade you that they were prudently incurred.


Well, really nothing is different here except we just don't have the formal "deferral account."  You have full details about how those costs were incurred.  They have been scrupulously tracked and kept track of so that you can be comfortable, I submit, with the amounts involved.  I am hopeful, and I submit to you, that we have demonstrated that these were prudently incurred so that, if we had a deferral account, we would have $7.7-million that I would be asking you to allow to be recovered over the next four years.  We don't have a deferral account, but you have every other trapping of a deferral account.  


Mr. Smith explained why the deferral account was not sought in this case, and, really, I think, if you look back in hindsight, it wasn't until, I think, December of 2014 that we actually had the partnership in place -- formally in place with the asset owned by that partnership.  So that is less than a year ago.  Recall that they couldn't formalize the partnership agreement until after the interim rate application was approved -- I think I am correct about this -- so the SON could get the necessary financing to participate in it. 


So the partnership was not formalized until after the interim rate order in December, I think on -- maybe it was the 21st or so of December that it was formalized.  It's on the table we've given you this morning. 


And at that time it had -- we had -- then we have a transmitter licensed to transmit with a partnership that owned the asset.  And I submit to you only at that time would it be possible for them to have applied for a deferral account. 


Now, at that time, of course, it was understood that there would be a rate application, this rate application today, and as part of that rate application, these costs would be sought to be recovered. 


I would just refer you now, if I might, to the decision of the Board at that time.  I don't think you need to turn it up.  It is actually a decision, I see, of Mr. Quesnelle, dated December 11, 2014.  This is the interim rate order in this case.  


It says here at page 3 of that decision:

"B2M LP also indicated that its 2015 cost-of-service application for final rates will seek approval for the period commencing on the date interim rates take effect."  


And this is the important part:

"The cost-of-service application will include information concerning required start-up costs."


So there is references before that, but here's a clear statement that it was well-understood by everybody concerned that these costs would be brought forward in this case, and we would be asking you to approve them for recovery.  So everybody has known this from right along, and that is important from a legal context, as I will show you in a moment.  


Dealing with the Board's authority, I mean, I would submit to you that it is just axiomatic as part of the Board's authority that it can approve prior costs for recovery in a present or future period providing the equities are aligned and providing that it is a reasonable thing for the ratepayers to pay those costs, which is the case here. 


But let me refer you to just some legal precedent on this point.  And I thought perhaps the best way to do it would just be to look at it, a decision of our Court of Appeal in Ontario, the Union Gas v. Ontario Energy Board case, which is found at tab 1 of my friend's legal brief.  And she will no doubt be referring to it herself, but I thought I would just refer you to a couple of excerpts from that case to make the point that I am trying to impress upon you.  


This was a case involving Union Gas, and the Board may or may not be familiar with the details of it, but it had to do with recovery of costs from a deferral account, and while it is not on all fours with our case by any means, there is some interesting jurisprudence and principles of law set out in this case, which I submit to you are very helpful. 


And referring -- you don't need to turn this up, I don't believe, but at page 8 of that case, the Court of Appeal stated in dealing with your authority that:

"Under Section 36 of the Act and approving or fixing just and reasonable rates, the Board may adopt any method or technique that it considers appropriate."  


So you have a very wide discretion in setting rates. 


Later on in the decision, the Court states that:

"The provisions of Section 36 of the Act are liberal in construction and do not, in any manner, constrain the Board from making orders respecting matters which arose in a previous year but had not been specifically dealt with as a discrete item in the rate-setting process."


This is our case.


At page 26 of that decision, the Court said this, down at paragraph 87, at the bottom of the page for those who are following:

"Nonetheless, courts have recognized qualifications --"


And I should say that it was dealing with this question of retroactive ratemaking, and I don't know whether my friend is going to raise a question, retroactive ratemaking or not.  There was some discussion about this at the technical conference. 


And I'm submitting to you that this is -- we're not dealing with retroactive ratemaking in this case.  If somebody argues that, I will have a more fulsome argument to, I hope, demonstrate to you that that is not the case, in due course.  But for today's purposes dealing with your authority, the Court said this:

"Nonetheless, courts have recognized a qualification on the principle against retroactive ratemaking.  In Bell Canada --"


And it gives the citation:

"-- the Supreme Court concluded that the power to make interim orders necessarily implies the power to modify by final order the rates created under an interim order."  


Seems logical.  That's what we've got, an interim order here.  We're asking you to modify that interim order to include the start-up costs. 


The Court goes on to say, quoting from the Bell Canada case:

"The Supreme Court noted at paragraph 54 that deferral accounts are accepted regulatory tools that enable a regulator to defer consideration of a particular item of expense or revenue that is incapable of being forecast to a certainty for the test year."


And we have a case here where the forecasting of these costs was very difficult, but the concept is that it is entirely appropriate and consistent with the authority of the Board to allow the recovery of a past cost in present and future rates, and that is all we're asking you to do in this case with respect to these start-up costs.  


My colleague is just wishing me to emphasize the point that the deferral account is a technicality that isn't really -- shouldn't be required in this case.  If we had a deferral account, we wouldn't be having this discussion.


The principles are the same.  The quantities are known.  They were prudently incurred.  They're benefiting present and future customers, and I submit to you, you ought to allow the recovery.  


Oh, there is one other point I wanted to make, because this actually is important in this case.  And this is at page 28 of that decision, the Union Gas decision.  It is talking about retroactive ratemaking.  And the Court says:

"Moreover, simply because a ratemaking decision has an impact on a past rate does not mean it is an impermissible retroactive decision." 


At paragraph 56, quoting from another case in Alberta:

"Rather --"


This is the important point I want to emphasize with you, members of the Board:

"Rather, the critical factor for determining whether the regulator is engaging in retroactive ratemaking is the parties' knowledge that the rates were subject to change." 


And, in this case, it has always been known and understood by everybody dealing with this project that these start-up costs would ultimately -- we would be ultimately asking you to allow for their recovery.  So it has always been within the contemplation of the parties, within the knowledge of the parties that these costs were thought by the utility to be proper utility costs to be recovered from the ratepayers.  So they meet that test as well.  


Now, there are other -- I am not going to  go through this.  They were referred to this morning, but there are interrogatory responses from previous cases dealing with this project, dealing with these start-up costs.  You will recall the $1 million to $10 million estimate and so on.  I mean, it has always been known we would be here today asking you for the recovery of these costs.  


So I do ask you to allow them.  I am concentrating on this because it is, I think, the most important issue for my clients in this case.  I ask you to allow the full recovery of these costs.

I submit to you that there were great benefits to be derived and are being derived from this partnership arrangement.  The costs -- although $7.7 million is significant, but they're relatively small when compared with the benefits that are being derived from it.  Just getting this line built on time, the benefits of that completely swamps the $7.7 million. 


I submit to you that they were prudently incurred.  You heard about the monitoring of these costs and the attempt by Hydro One to ensure that their costs were in line and the same with SON.  


You know, I know it is a lot of money, but I was thinking about this over the lunch hour.  When you compare the costs of $7.7 million for two parties over three years dealing with novel, unique commercial arrangements which had never been done before, think about that in comparison to some the costs that intervenors in your cases -- in a routine rate case incur over a couple of months, and I submit to you that you can see they're very reasonable.  


Those are my submissions, Mr. Chairman and members of the Board.  As I say, I will have more to say perhaps about some of the other matters, but that is what I wanted to emphasize with you this afternoon.  I thank you for your attention.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  I think they might have replaced your mic.  During the lunch, I noticed that. 


MS. FRY:  Let's give it a shot.  How is this?  It's good. 


MS. LEA:  Despite my aging assets, yes, indeed I can hear you. 


[Laughter] 


MS. FRY:  That would be your depreciating assets. 


So Mr. Rogers, you referred a couple of times to the fact that in your view, the start-up costs enabled this project to be completed in a timely way. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes. 


MS. FRY:  I don't recall seeing anything on the record, although I certainly may have missed it, where someone did some kind of an estimate of, you know, how long it would have taken to complete the project without this arrangement being concluded.  I'm just wondering if there is something I missed that you can point me to. 


MR. ROGERS:  I don't believe there is anything in the written record about that in particular.  I was referring to the evidence of Mr. Smith this morning, when he was asked, kind of, can you quantify it?  He said, no, they hadn't really quantified it.  But he pointed to the other project which I happen to be familiar with, the Niagara project, which I believe was around a $100 million investment, if I recall correctly.  And because of First Nations problems and issues, after almost the completion of the line, it still sits inactive and is not in service. 


He did give us an estimate, and I can't remember what it was for the -- I think it was $50 million or so in carrying costs which have been incurred on that project since it was almost completed until now and said that this, the Bruce-to-Milton line, is seven times bigger.  


So the rough math is several million, several -- sorry -- everal hundred million dollars, yes, $700 million. 


MS. FRY:  We can certainly read that in the transcript. I just wanted to make sure there wasn't something in the written record. 


MR. ROGERS:  No, I don’t believe there is.  I don't recall anything specific about that.  I don't believe there is any economic analysis of what that benefit is.  


MS. FRY:  Thanks.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Ms. Lea, your turn.  

Submissions by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers for providing that argument.  


Mr. Chair, members of the Panel, I am going to give you an argument on all of the issues in the case, such as is necessary at this time.  And there are quite a few issues for which Board Staff actually accepts the evidence of the applicant, and we don't have a dispute with them.  But to assist you in your drafting of a decision, I will give you very briefly the reasons why we agree with those issues. 


So issue 1.1:  Has B2M LP responded appropriately to all relevant Board directions from previous proceedings?  


Staff submits that, yes, they have, as the only previous direction was to file a cost-of-service application by April 15, 2015, and they have done so. 


We don't dispute the evidence with respect to issue 3.2:  Are the methodologies used to allocate common corporate costs for 2015 to 2019 appropriate?  We say yes, as the allocation was based on a study done by Black & Veatch, using the methodology accepted by the Board in the most recent Hydro One Transmission Application. 


We agree with the applicant on issue 4.1:  Are the amounts proposed for rate base in 2015 to 2019 appropriate?  B2M LP has provided evidence that the average net assets removed from the Hydro One Transmission rate base is equal to the average net assets of the opening B2M LP rate base and has also indicated there is no need for a working capital allowance.  And B2M does not anticipate any capital expenditures over the five-year period.  


So if you determine that you are going to set revenue requirement for five years, Staff does submit that the rate base amounts are reasonable, given these facts.  


Issue 5.1:  Are the business assumptions and policies used by B2M LP to develop and allocate its revenue requirements appropriate?  


Yes, in Staff's view.  Staff presumes that this issue refers to the allocation of corporate costs, as issue 7.1 deals with cost allocation of the revenue requirement itself.  Staff supports the business assumptions and policies used by B2M.  They were developed using the corporate cost-allocation methodology accepted by this Board in the Hydro One Transmission Application, the EB-2014-0140 application, and updated for this current filing, again using a study prepared by Black & Veatch. 


Issue 5.2:  Is the capital structure and cost of capital component of the revenue requirement for 2015 appropriate?  B2M has proposed a deemed capital structure of 40 percent equity, 56 percent long-term debt, and 4 percent short-term debt.  The 2015 return on equity and short-term debt are as per the cost of capital parameter updates for 2015 applications.  The proposal here is to update them annually.  The interest rates used include a reflection of the actual five-year note that was issued by Hydro One to third-party public debt investors in the second quarter of 2015.  So given all of these facts together, we do submit that the capital structure and cost of capital component for 2015 is appropriate. 


Depreciation, issue 5.3:  Is the depreciation component of the revenue requirement for 2015 to 2019 appropriate.  B2M provided a depreciation study prepared by Foster Associates, which is the same firm that prepared Hydro One Networks Inc.'s depreciation studies in that same case, which I cited earlier, and this methodology was accepted by the Board.  The resulting depreciation expense is $6.8 million and does not change over the five-year period, as no assets are being added to the pool.  


Issue 5.4:  Is the taxes/PILs component of the revenue requirement for 2015 to 2019 appropriate?  So the PILs have been calculated -- and I shouldn't be using acronyms without defining them -- payments in lieu of taxes, PILs.  The PILs have been calculated based on the assumption that 34.19 percent of the net income is not subject to tax.  This assumption is based on the four advance rulings received from the tax authorities, indicating that the Saugeen Ojibway Nation Finance Corporation is not subject either to PILs or to corporate income tax.  


And Staff confirmed today in the hearing that the facts and assumptions provided to the tax authorities were correct and have not changed.  So we are saying, yes, these amounts are appropriate.  


7.1:  Is the cost allocation proposed by B2M appropriate?  B2M has classified its assets as network, and this is consistent with the allocation methodology approved by the OEB for Hydro One Networks Transmission most recently in EB-2012-0031.  


As there are no customer delivery points supplied directly from the B2M assets, the B2M network charge determinant for the purpose of setting the uniform transmission rates is zero.  So we do find the cost allocation proposed is appropriate. 


Are the bill impacts of this application appropriate?  That is issue 8.1.  The estimated change in the transmission portion of the average residential customer's bill is zero in 2015, a reduction of 0.04 cents in 2016, an increase of 0.1 cent in -- no, 0.1 dollar, I guess, yeah, so one cent -- hang on a minute.  I am getting my orders of magnitude mixed up.  Zero in 2015, four cents less in 2016, one cent increase in 2017 and 2018, and a one cent decrease in 2019.  So this represents an impact of less than 0.01 percent on a customer's total bill in any one of those years of the application.


Now, having said that we believe the bill impacts are appropriate, that doesn't mean we won't be arguing for certain reductions in the total revenue requirement that B2M is seeking.  So these bill impacts would change if the Board accepts our submissions.  


So what are the areas of disagreement, then, that we have with this application?  There are three main areas for which Board Staff does not accept the evidence of the applicant. 


The first is the application framework, and this is issues 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, along with issue 6.1 relating to deferral accounts.  And I would like to present argument about these issues as a group, as, in our submission, they're related.  The second point of disagreement will be the O&M levels over the five years, and the third main point of disagreement is the recovery of the start-up costs. 


So to begin with, then, the application framework, including annual adjustments, deferral and variance accounts, and the reporting that B2M has proposed for the five-year period.  Now, B2M has asked that the rates be set for five years on the basis of its forecast costs, the cost-of-service application.  And Staff agrees that a five-year approval of revenue requirement is appropriate for this transmitter and would not be inconsistent with the direction in Board policy, which does contemplate five-year rate-setting.

While forecast uncertainty exists over that period, the fact that this transmitter has only one asset and has a service agreement with Hydro One makes costs easier to forecast.  At the same time, the asset base of a single line means that any one event can have a proportionately greater effect than for a transmitter with a portfolio of assets.  As Board Staff will argue in more detail in a moment, the certainty of five years of known revenue requirement should, in Staff's submission, be balanced by a willingness to accept some risk over that five-year period as well as substantiated by an increase in efficiency over the period.  


In Staff's submission, the application as filed does not provide these two essential elements.  So we will be arguing that the Board should make four findings, if it grants the request to set a revenue requirement for five years. 


First, no annual adjustments are needed.  Second, only two deferral accounts are needed.  Third, an additional item of reporting is needed as well as, we would suggest, a proposed scorecard.  And, fourth, a stretch factor is appropriate for O&M expenses to encourage efficiency.  


Now, if the Board decides in this application to approve a shorter term than five years, Staff would submit that there is no need for any annual adjustments or deferral and variance accounts, if you choose an approval period such as two years.


A two-year approval period would parallel the revenue requirement determinations for Hydro One Transmission, CNPI -- that is Canadian Niagara Power Inc. Transmission -- and Great Lakes Power.  The -- if rates in this case were approved for only two years, the 2017 and following Uniform Transmission Rates would be set with four updated revenue requirements, if all of these transmitters applied for a reset in 2017.  However, as we have said, we are not disagreeing with the idea of approving the revenue requirement for five years for that transmitter -- for this transmitter.  


So B2M has asked for three adjustments to be made annually during that five-year period.  The first is cost of capital.  The proposal is that the return on equity and short-term debt are to be adjusted consistent with the Board's annual cost-of-capital calculations.  This proposal is consistent with the Board practice for other transmitters.  


However, some utilities are proposing, sometimes through settlement agreements, they can go for longer periods without adjustment for the cost of capital.  Staff submits that minimizing annual adjustments, even mechanistic adjustments, contributes to regulatory efficiency and to rate certainty.  In addition, the nature of this transmitter with a stable rate base and a lack of need for investment over the five-year period suggests that a consistent return on equity could be appropriate. 


Contrary to the evidence that we heard today, we could not find anything in the transmission filing requirements that requires annual adjustment in cost of capital.  Section 2.7 of those filing requirements leaves the choice to the transmitter, as we read it.  So Staff invites the applicant to provide reasons why the annual adjustment method is preferred for cost of capital. 


The second annual adjustment sought is changes in tax rates.  Now, Staff understands the basis for this adjustment in principle, but submits that the Board should not approve this annual adjustment if it approves the deferral account for tax rate and rule changes.  And while we asked this in evidence today, we would further invite the applicant to explain why both the annual adjustment and the account are necessary.  For example, if the account were established, B2M could apply for disposition of the amount in the account, if it became too large for the company to continue to support. 


The third annual adjustment requested was changes in third-party pass-through charges.  Now, Staff submits that the evidence here is not clear as to the scope of this adjustment and why an annual adjustment is necessary.  It's not clear to us what annual changes are foreseen, or are they material enough to require adjustment?  Staff submits that, if there is any element of uncertainty about what should be included or any element of judgment in calculating eligible amounts that should be permitted, an annual adjustment is not appropriate.  In our view, annual adjustments, if any are permitted, should be predictable, mechanistic, automatic.  If there is a real risk of a material change in third-party pass-through charges, a deferral account could be appropriate instead.  But Staff submits that the evidence does not show that any real risk sufficient to justify the order for an annual adjustment or a deferral account exists. 


Similarly, there is a request for an account for unplanned capital spending.  And this account is intended to cover unforeseen events that are outside of management's control and would prompt a material increase in capital spending. 


Now, B2M has agreed that for both these unpredictable event scenarios, their difficulties could be covered by the Board's Z-factor policy, if it existed for transmitters. 


Now, we acknowledge that B2M's circumstances are unusual in that they have no planned capital spending, and they do not have a portfolio of assets over which to spread the consequences of an event.  But even then we submit that, an account itself is unnecessary, and we do submit that a Z-factor-like approach could be used.  


Even in the absence of an explicit policy for the recovery of costs caused by unforeseen events, a regulated entity can apply to the regulator if some catastrophic event occurs.  An explicit Z-factor policy is a way for the regulator to signal willingness to entertain such applications and also to provide guidance as to what evidence would be persuasive on such an application. 


If, in this case, the Board determined -- decided to deny the request for the unplanned capital spending account and the annual adjustment for third-party cost changes, it could still acknowledge the possibility that, over a five-year period, an unforeseen, uncontrollable, and material event, such as a storm, might require material spending and justify an application to the Board to recover those costs before the next rebasing hearing.


In other words, I'm suggesting that you create a Z-factor for B2M, as the Board has done for the individual gas distributors on occasion.  Staff submits that this would be preferable to the proposed annual adjustment and the capital spending deferral accounts.  So we are submitting that the Board could acknowledge the possibility that such an event could occur requiring material amounts to be spent and that B2M could make such an application.  


So Staff suggest that the materiality should be calculated as half a percent -- pardon me, as 0.5 percent of revenue requirement, which would be about $200,000 in revenue requirement.  And I would ask the applicant to indicate whether this proposal would take care of the risks that they are concerned about.  


There was a request for an account for changes in tax rules and rates.  As Board Staff understands this account, it would cover changes in tax rules and policy as well as any differences from the advance rulings obtained by B2M from the tax authorities.  


Hydro One Transmission has a similar account, although, of course, it doesn't contain anything to do with advance rulings.  


Staff notes that the finding on the asset transfer to B2M, the finding that that transfer was in the public interest in the hearing EB-2013-0078, 0079 and 0080 was based in part on the understanding that the tax exempt status of the Saugeen Ojibway nation would provide a considerable benefit to ratepayers.  So I suppose it could be argued that the Board should restrict this account to not allow the inclusion of the additional tax cost resulting from such a reversal of these rulings.  However, this, in Staff's submission, seems unfair to B2M.  Staff recommends that this account be established and that the cost consequences of any change in tax rules or rates be recorded in the account.  


The Board can examine the prudence of actions leading to any additional cost at the time of disposition of the account.  For example, if Staff -- if it were determined B2M had not provided accurate information to the tax authorities at the time the advance rulings were sought, B2M might bear the responsibility of the consequences of that inaccuracy. 


With respect to the revenue requirement reconciliation account, Board Staff understands this account to be intended to capture the difference between the 2015 revenue recovered through interim rates and the 2015 revenue recovery that results from this decision.  And so we support the request for that account.  


Now, as I suggested earlier, if the Board decides to approve rates for B2M for a shorter term -- two years, for example -- Staff submits that only the revenue reconciliation account is necessary.  


B2M could choose to seek a revenue requirement change for 2017 and subsequent years.  And even if the Board does set a revenue requirement for five years for B2M, Staff submits that B2M must be willing to accept some level of risk for variances from forecast, and B2M will earn a return on equity to compensate for this risk.  


In Staff's submission, the removal of risk through all the annual adjustments and deferral accounts proposed is not justified.  However, as I said, we do support those two deferral accounts that I mentioned, the tax rules and rate changes and the revenue requirement reconciliation account.  


I'm going to turn now to issue 2.3, which has to do with reporting.  B2M has proposed to track four outcome measures each year -- system average interruption frequency,  system average interruption duration, average system availability, and NERC vegetation compliance -- and we agree that those would be good measures to report on.  And B2M has agreed with us that a measure of efficiency should also be reported on, and we are suggesting that operations and maintenance costs per kilometre of line would be a useful unit cost measure to report to the Board.


Now, in addition, Staff recommends that the Board require B2M to file a proposed scorecard similar to that used for distributors with its 2017 RRR filing and that the 2016 results be shown on this scorecard.  Now, Mr. Smith demonstrated today that he is familiar with the distributor scorecard, and he has good ideas about what a transmitter's scorecard might look like.  Now, although a general transmitter scorecard might be developed with all transmitters present, Staff submits that it would be useful to have a scorecard that reflects the circumstances of this transmitter, that is, the single-line company that B2M is, and that its scorecard might be a little bit different from those of other transmitters.  


Turning to issue 3.1, which is operations and maintenance and administration spending, B2M's operation and maintenance expenses are largely driven by the service agreement with Hydro One.  And the operations and maintenance costs from those services are relatively constant over the five-year period except for the large increase in 2018 due to scheduled vegetation management.  


Now, there is the possibility that costs for vegetation management or other activities could decrease if Hydro One finds efficiencies in its operations.  The evidence today was that any savings will not be passed on to ratepayers during the term of the agreement, given that the revenue requirement is going to be set for five years.  Mr. Smith testified that any savings would be very immaterial to the average ratepayer, given the size of the provincial transmission revenue requirement.  But this fact, in my submission, does not justify not returning to ratepayers the benefit of efficiencies found by a transmitter. 


As I indicated earlier, Staff does not support the idea of an annual adjustment for changes in third-party costs.  In order to assist a return to ratepayers of any efficiencies found, the Board could establish a deferral account, either symmetric to allow the potential for recovery or return of changes in costs, or asymmetric to allow only for return to ratepayers of some or all of the savings.  


However, Board Staff submits that an account is not the best way to do this.  Board Staff submits that the Board should take a different approach; presume that Hydro One will find efficiencies over the next five years and pass them through to B2M.  


B2M has asked for the certainty of revenue requirements set for five years.  The Board's renewed Regulatory Framework For Electricity policy, while it is not yet directly applied to transmitters, does provide guidance in understanding the trade-off for rate certainty.  The utility must demonstrate improved efficiency and cost-effectiveness.  Staff submits that the evidence in this case does not demonstrate these necessary elements, and, as I have said, any efficiencies found will not be passed through to ratepayers during the five-year period.  


Staff submits that, if the Board finds that a five-year rate term is appropriate, that the Board consider reducing the operations and maintenance amounts in revenue requirement by a stretch factor of 0.3 percent per year, which is equivalent to the moderate efficiency level the Board has set for distributors.  This is approximately equal to a reduction of $120,000 annually.  


In addition, Staff submits that the costs for the managing director's office in 2015 and 2016 have not been adequately justified by the evidence in this case.  And we note that, at the same time, the transmitter received revenue in 2014 of over $1.6 million.  


Staff recommends that the Board find that this revenue should be used in part to offset some of the costs in operations and maintenance rather than being directed just to the debt payments and dividend payments to the partners.  


I would like to turn to issue 5.5 now.  It is the final issue I have to address, but it is a lengthy one, and that is the recovery of the start-up costs.  


Board Staff submits that B2M has not provided sufficient justification for the recovery of the $7.7 million in start-up costs, and Board Staff asks that the applicant and other parties respond to, and that the Board consider, two main submissions that we want to bring relating to the recovery of those costs and a third consideration, which I will mention at the end.  


Now, Staff acknowledges that the circumstances of this case are relatively unique.  We have a new transmission entity that incurred start-up costs in order to apply for a licence and a revenue requirement. 


In general, regulatory costs are recoverable by utilities as they are an expense incurred as part of the business that serves customers.  However, Staff submits that the start-up costs of a company that is created as a commercial venture to acquire and operate transmission lines are not necessarily in that category.  Participants in a commercial venture must be willing to invest some money in hopes of future profit, and setup costs for the commercial entity are not equivalent to, say, development costs of a line. 


In this case, at the time the setup costs were incurred, transmission ratepayers were already funding the operation of the B2M line, as it was already operational as part of Hydro One Networks, as I understand the evidence.  Staff submits that the start-up costs were not incurred purely for the benefit of ratepayers, but also to enable a new transmission company to establish itself and prepare to take over the operation of a working line. 


I would ask the applicant, if I've misunderstood the timeline, to correct it in their reply. 


The east-west tie proceeding, which was EB-2011-0140, involved a competition between six new entrant transmitters.  And Staff submits that some guidance can be found in the findings of the Board in the phase 1 decision in that case.  The excerpts from that record are included at tabs 8 through 10 of our exhibit book, which has been made Exhibit J1.2 today.  


The Board issued its invitation to licensed transmitters to register as a potential designation applicant on August 22, 2011.  And that invitation appears at tab 8.  The invitation made it clear that transmitters had to be licensed, or had to have applied for a licence before registering.  And in its information of December -- information letter of December 20, 2011, which is at tab 9 of Staff's exhibit book, the Board confirmed the policy that it had already made:  Development costs begin when a transmitter is designated.


However, the Board also said that the designated transmitter would be able to recover its costs of becoming designated, and that unsuccessful applicants would not.  It was clear, then, that the Board recognized that ratepayers should not pay the costs of the start-up and licensing of commercial ventures that did not succeed in being designated. 


But what did the Board mean by the costs of being designated for the successful applicant?  That was made clear in the phase 1 decision of July 12, 2012.  And I have put an excerpt from that decision at the last tab of the exhibit book.  


The Board received submissions on this question.  It was issue 14.  It is on the back page of the exhibit book:

"Should the designated transmitter be permitted to recover its prudently incurred costs associated with preparing its application for designation?  And, if yes, what accounting mechanisms are required to allow for such recovery?"


The Board found that costs could be recovered by the successful applicant, but only from February 2, 2012, which was the day the Board gave notice of the proceeding, the designation proceeding.


The Board in its decision said:

"This date represents the beginning of the proceeding and, therefore, a date after which the designated transmitter could reasonably expect to recover costs."


The six new entrants were already established and all but one licensed by February 2, 2012.  The exception, EWT LP, had applied for its licence on September 20, 2011 and, by that time, had already established the transmission company, which included a partnership with First Nations.  The finding in the phase 1 decision meant that the costs of setting up the transmission company and obtaining a licence were not recoverable even by the successful applicant.  


In that case, Staff submits, the Board apparently recognized that partners to a new venture must invest some funds to create the entity, and those funds were not to be recovered from ratepayers. 


I acknowledge that this is not a completely parallel case, but, as Mr. Rogers pointed out, it is difficult to find anything that is completely parallel to this situation to bring to the Board. 


Now, if the Board finds that the start-up costs are of a nature to be recoverable from ratepayers, Board Staff submits that the totality of the $7.7-million in start-up costs may not be recovered in their entirety, because to allow recovery would constitute retroactive ratemaking. 


I would like to make some submissions on this legal point for the Board to consider.  I think it is clear from the evidence that we have heard that the costs, the start-up costs that are now sought to be recovered, were incurred prior to this application for final rates.  And as Staff understands it, then, B2M is asking the Board to allow recovery in a future period of costs incurred in a past period.  


In Staff's submission, to allow recovery would change the transmission rate for the province that was previously finalized.  During the period that the costs were incurred, the transmission rates were set for 2011 in case EB-2010-0002, for 2012 in EB-2011-0268, and for 2013 and 2014 in EB-2012-0031.  So those transmission rates had been finalized.


The law with respect to retroactive ratemaking is relatively well understood, but the application of the law to the facts is often tricky.  And I would like to look at the Ontario Court of Appeal case that Mr. Rogers referred to as well, and that is at tab 1 of the book of authorities that has been made Exhibit J1.3. 


Just, by the way, in this book of authorities, I have included the entire case wherever I put a case in, but in brackets, in the first four cases anyway, which are lengthy, there is a note as to what pages we found the most helpful in terms of the law and retroactivity. 


So I don't actually think that Mr. Rogers and I disagree very much about what the law is with respect to retroactive ratemaking.  


The fundamental principle, which the Court of Appeal states at page 25 of the decision, is that a regulator like the OEB, operating under a positive approval scheme of ratemaking, must exercise its ratemaking authority on a prospective basis.  Absent statutory authority, such a regulator may not exercise its authority retroactively. 


And the case law provides two main reasons for the rule against retroactivity, that both utilities and customers are entitled to rate certainty.  They need to be able to rely on the rates that are set as final.  It is not fair to adjust rates after the fact.


Secondly, intergenerational inequities may arise if the customers paying the costs are not the same as the customers responsible for the costs. 


Now, in this case, I agree that intergenerational inequity is not a factor for this situation, as the beneficiaries of the creation of the partnership are the customers who would be paying for the start-up costs.  So I don't think that problem exists in this case, but the problem of lack of rate certainty, of lack of knowledge of a rate change is present.  


And I agree with Mr. Rogers that there are several exceptions to this rule against retroactive ratemaking.  Changes can be made to rates once the existing rates are made interim.  


Now, in this case, an interim rate order was made on December 11, 2014, and what I disagree, I think, with Mr. Rogers about is what that -- what that means to the start-up cost recovery.  In my submission, you can adjust rates from the date of an interim rate order going forward, but you cannot, by making rates interim, go backwards to adjust rates before the date that that interim rate order was made. 


So, in my submission, the date of December 11, 2014 is a date from which costs incurred after that date can be included in rates.  The rates, at that point, are declared subject to change, but prior rates -- that is, the rates of 2012 and 2013 and any rates before December 11, 2014 -- are not subject to change, in my submission.  


Now, if you want to look at the interim rates decision, it is at tab 7 of the exhibit book.  


Now, Staff notes also that the Board in its findings on interim rates was very clear that the inclusion of any costs in the interim revenue requirement was not to be construed as a finding that the Board would ultimately find the costs in the interim revenue requirement to be recoverable.  As it turns out, none of the start-up costs were included in that interim revenue requirement.  So this Panel is the first to consider the question of recovery of those costs. 


A second exception to the rule against retroactive ratemaking can be found through the use of a deferral account.  As we all know, no deferral account was sought or was granted in this case.  However, a formal deferral account is not necessary, if the costs could be considered "encumbered."  That is, if the utility and its customers had some notice or knowledge of a potential change in the rates or of a future disposition of funds held apart, a retroactive adjustment may be permissible. 


And the decision in the Union case that I have referred to as well as the decisions that we find at tabs 2 and 3 and 4 of the book of authorities emphasize that it isn't a formal deferral account that is absolutely necessary.  The critical factor for determining whether a regulator is engaged in retroactive ratemaking is the parties' knowledge that the rates were subject to change.  Interim rates and deferral accounts are two ways to signal this potential change. 


I have also included at tab 5 an older case from the Supreme Court of Utah, as it contains a good discussion of the principles, and it also speaks to another potential exception, utility error or misconduct that has adversely affected ratepayers, but that certainly doesn't apply in this case. 


So I think that the key here is:  Was there knowledge was there knowledge of the potential for change to the rates, and at what date was that knowledge gained, and to what extent was that change possible?  


I have also included in the book of authorities three cases that this Board decided, and in the first two cases, the first one which dealt with North Bay Hydro's RSVA account, and then the smart meter costs by Veridian Connections, which is at the next tab, the Board denied a request by the distributor to recover costs that had been omitted by error from previous applications. 


The Board found that the previous rate orders were final and that to correct the error in future rates would be impermissible retroactive ratemaking.  However, in contrast, at tab 8, there is a case in which the Board found it would make a retroactive order on the grounds that an out-of-period adjustment can be justified if it ensures that a utility does not profit by its own errors. 


So looking at this case, then, and I think, as I have said, it isn't the law that matters so much as the application of the law to the facts.  Can we say that the start-up costs or a portion of the start-up costs could be encumbered in this case at any point?  Was there anything to suggest that these out-of-period costs would be recoverable in a future period, and, if so, how much of them?


The licence application was filed on March 28, 2013, along with the asset transfer application.  Now, according to the evidence that we received today on Exhibit J1.1, over $1.8 million in costs had been incurred by that point.  But the start-up costs were still to be $1 million in the licence and asset transfer application, and we looked together at that interrogatory 7, which is at tab 4 of the exhibit book -- pardon me -- tab 3 of the exhibit book.  And it provided -- that interrogatory provided a breakdown of the one-time incremental costs and confirmed this estimate and also stated clearly that B2M intended to recover the incremental costs, both one-time and ongoing, in rates.  The $10 million benefit on which the decision in that case was based included this estimate of $1 million. 


In my submission, the fact that there was an indication that the costs would fall within that $10 million benefit is not equivalent to saying that the costs are estimated to be $10 million.  The estimate at the time of the licence and asset transfer application was $1 million.  


However, interrogatory 9 in that proceeding, which is at tab 4 of the exhibit book, shows that the estimate was $2.415 million as of June 18, 2012; that's the date of the attachment to that interrogatory. 


Now, despite this estimate, in the updated application filed on October 1, 2013, the estimate of $1 million was not revised.  And that can be seen at tab 5 of the exhibit book.  It is page 29. 


So at various points in the record of the licence and asset transfer application, B2M indicated that the estimate was preliminary and was -- sorry, one moment -- and would change.  


Sorry, I am just catching up on my notes here because I had to make them as I was listening to Mr. Rogers' argument.


So, yes, there was an indication that the estimate was preliminary and would change.  But, to Board Staff, it appears that, if the Board is concerned with retroactivity, no knowledge of the recovery of start-up costs existed before March 28, 2013, which is when the license application, asset transfer application was filed, and as of that date, knowledge of only $1 million or potentially $2.415 million was available, because those were the amounts that were contained in those interrogatories as the estimates.  


Now, B2M may argue that there was no mechanism that they could have sought; that since the entity did not exist, no deferral account for B2M could have been granted. Board Staff sees two options that have that could have been pursued.  One is an earlier licence application, although obviously some of the costs would have had to be incurred to create the entity to be licensed.  Alternatively, Staff submits that Hydro One could have sought a deferral account for at least a portion of the costs.  


At Tab 4 in the exhibit book, the letter dated June 18, 2012, which was included in that IR response, indicates that Hydro One was to pay for participant funding which was the advancement of funds for third-party expert advice and so on that the Saugeen Ojibway Nation is expected to incur. 


Perhaps part of the reason why a deferral account was not sought is that, simply, the magnitude of these costs was not anticipated, as the record of the licence application appears to show. and a deferral account wasn't seen to be necessary at that time.  


But as the costs increased over 2012 and 2013, Staff suggests that the partners, with their legal and regulatory experience, could have taken some action to protect their own interests.  An account could have been sought for the 2014 costs by B2M -- it was licensed by then -- and possibly some of the 2013 costs could have been protected by a deferral account as well, given that the licence was  -- sorry, yeah, I think the licence was granted in late 2013.  So the 2014 costs at least could have been sought there, or Hydro One could have possibly applied for a deferral account earlier.  


Now, I do want to make one last point with respect to these start-up costs that Staff wants to acknowledge. 


You have heard evidence today of the benefits that the expenditure of these start-up costs will bring and the effect of a denial of recovery on these start-up costs. You have heard evidence as to the harm to B2M and to the Saugeen Ojibway Nation that could result from denial of recovery.  And you may wish to consider this evidence in determining your ruling on the recovery of the start-up costs, if you accept Mr. Rogers' argument that the equity of the situation is important as well as the details of the law. 


If I could have a moment, please?  


Thank you very much for your indulgence, and those are my submissions.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks, Ms. Lea.  Before we go to Ms. Blanchard, Mr. Quesnelle has a question.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just a point of clarification, and it is a little odd what I am going to ask to have happen here. 


Mr. Rogers, could you -- in the evidence, there is an area that talks about the Affiliate Relationship Code.  We don't have to go to it, but it speaks about, being in the spirit of the Affiliate Relationship Code, B2M will act in a certain fashion.  And the separation becomes between Hydro One and B2M will be dealt with in the spirit of the Affiliate Relationships Code. 


Is it your client's -- what is your client's view on the status of the Affiliate Relationships Code as it relates to the relationship between Hydro One and B2M?  


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just take some advice, because I don't know the answer to that?  


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I was going to ask, Ms. Lea, if you could point out --


MS. LEA:  It is in the evidence, and I think it may be of assistance to pull that piece of evidence up.  Maybe -- we can't do that now?  Okay.


It is in the evidence in tab A -- I will find the reference, one moment.  It is in the cross-examination notes.  


It is Section 4.3 of something.  I know I have read it, sir, and it talks about the acknowledgement that -- thank you.  


Yes, it is on the following pages, Harold.  I think it is Section 4 there.  It talks about the applicants acknowledge that they are affiliates and that the Affiliate Relationships Code applies.  It talks about the fact that the service agreement was completed consistent with the principles of the Affiliate Relationships Code, and -- 


MR. QUESNELLE:  I obviously missed that.  It was the language that spoke to "in the spirit of," and I took it that -- I took an inference from that that perhaps it did not apply, but they were acting as though it did.  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Schedule 1, page 1.  It is at line 8.  


MR. ROGERS:  I haven't found the excerpt yet, Mr. Quesnelle, but I have told my -- 


MS. LEA:  It is certainly there, but there is more explanation on the record that I have read.  


MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that both of our clients intend to comply completely with it.  


MR. QUESNELLE:  And I guess the fine point I am trying to ask is:  Is that voluntary, or does it apply?  


MS. LEA:  It applies. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is not whether or not you intend to.  It is whether or not it actually applies, because  that --


MR. ROGERS:  I believe that it applies.  We must comply.  But if it is any different, can I advise you in my reply?  If you don't hear from me, that is the answer. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you very much. 


MS. LEA:  It is Board Staff's understanding that it does apply. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's all I wanted to clarify.  Thank you, both of you.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay, Ms. Blanchard.  

Submissions by Ms. Blanchard:  


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Recognizing that this hearing is not about the merits of the creation of the partnership between Hydro One and the Saugeen Ojibway First Nation to own the powerline between -- the transmission line between Bruce and Milton, I would like to begin my submissions by stating that CME is very supportive of this type of initiative as being one that demonstrates the benefits of concerted, cooperative, and collaborative action between industry, First Nations, and government.  And the benefits of which include providing for long-term engagement and involvement of First Nations and also providing benefits to industry.  


I would also like to preface my submissions today by saying that CME is cognizant of the evidence before the Board that ratepayers will derive a net benefit over the life of the Bruce-Milton line as a result of the participation of the Saugeen Ojibway First Nation. 


All of that said, there are a number of aspects of this application with which CME takes issue.  The focus of my submissions will be the start-up costs, and I will then have some brief comments relating to other matters raised in Board Staff's submissions, although largely CME supports those submissions.  


The start-up cost issue, I will call it that, is one area where CME diverges to some extent from Staff's position.  At the outset, I would submit for the record that CME takes no position on what I will call the retrospective ratemaking issue raised by the Board.  Our submissions on the start-up costs amounts are presented in the alternative, and they relate to the quantum of costs claimed.  


The witness this morning characterized the initial estimate of $10 million net present value benefit to ratepayers as an "envelope" which was available to the partnership to absorb start-up costs incurred in forming the partnership.  And, with respect, CME disagrees with this characterization.  


If you go -- you don't need to turn it up, but I am going to go, briefly, to the decision of the Board when the licence and when the transaction was approved and just note that -- I am just going to read out from it here.  I am at tab 6 of the Board Staff's compendium at page 30.  This is where the Board grants -- conditionally approves the application and says:   

"The Board notes that the expected offsetting of costs and benefits to ratepayers is contingent on the applicant's obtaining the favourable tax rulings." 


And as a result, the approval was conditional on those tax rulings being obtained.  So essentially the expected offsetting of costs and benefits to ratepayers was the foundation of the approval, which was provided with respect to the granting of the licence.  


We also submit that, as mentioned by Board Staff, there was clearly knowledge throughout the process of applying for approval to create the partnership, approval of the licence, approval for interim rates.  There was clearly knowledge within the partnership at Hydro One that start-up costs were -- would significantly exceed the $1 million estimate included in both -- included in the licence application and the later update. 


And by way of example, I would note that the licence application was filed on March 28, 2013.  Ten months previous, in June of 2012, the partners had executed a funding agreement estimating that the SON portion of the start-up costs alone would be $2.41 million. 


So clearly there was knowledge at all times during the original application process before the Board that start-up costs would be not close to the $1 million, but significantly larger.  


So I just want to speak a little bit about the order of magnitude of the costs.  There were some questions at the technical conference about the $7.7 million just in terms of order of magnitude, and, at the time, Mr. Smith invited us to consider that $7.7 million as a proportion of the value of the transaction as a whole. 


So he said, you know, the transaction was worth more than half a billion dollars.  $7.7 million as a proportion of that, I think he gave us the percentage of 1.5 percent during the technical conference, and, again, Mr. Rogers, today, sort of suggested that $7.7 million might be a pretty good deal considering the magnitude of the transaction.  


And while we don't intend to diminish at all the complexity of what was accomplished, we would submit that, from a ratemaking perspective and from the ratepayers' perspective, the real consideration is how does that $7.7 million relate to the net benefit to ratepayers, which was the foundation of the original licence and transaction approval granted by the Board.  


And so we would submit that the $7.7 million needs to be looked at in light of, initially, the $10 million.  That number has since grown, but the $7.7 million still is a significant proportion of the expected net benefit to ratepayers.  


It is also difficult to really get a handle on what actually -- you know, the nitty-gritty of what goes into that $7.7 million.  And, for valid reasons, Hydro One and the SON have refused to disclose dockets, citing privilege. 


We accept that position.  We are -- but all of that said, there is not a huge amount of particulars in front of the Board as to, you know, the exact amount of work that goes into $7.7 million.  So what do you really get for $7.7 million?  


Putting aside for a moment the ultimate completion of the transaction, we just, you know, are putting before you -- we would like you to think about $7.7 million as a comparison -- well, I think my friend Mr. Rogers actually offered this comparison.


For example, what is spent on ratepayers -- sorry, on intervenors at Board hearings?  And with that in mind and just with a view to helping us come to grips with $7.7 million in terms of legal costs or participation in a regulatory proceeding, I have pulled up the summary of cost awards for intervenors in the period between 2013 and 2014.  I have copies, but, you know, I am happy to provide them if you're interested. 


But the total for that year was approximately $7.1 million.  So just in terms of order of magnitude, all of the costs awards for the entire year at the OEB is $7.1 million.  So that's offered only by way of comparison, and given that there aren't -- there aren't significant particulars available as a way of really drilling into that $7.7 million.  


I would also submit that, as we heard this morning, there were no -- there was no real effort to look at how especially the legal costs could be controlled at the outset.  And so, for example, there was no procurement undertaken, apparently no effort to negotiate rates, and, again, we offer that merely as support for the proposition that there may not have been the rigour that ratepayers might expect when looking at a cost of this magnitude.  Ultimately, it is our submission that the full burden of this $7.7 million should not fall on ratepayers.


For the first time in these proceedings, today we heard in evidence, I believe from Mr. Smith, that the real value of this transaction is that it allowed the transmission line project to be delivered more expediently.  And we also heard, I think, evidence from the SON of the importance of this transaction to their community, both in terms of -- well, in terms of providing an opportunity to create meaningful participation in the economy of their territory. 


And both of those -- both of those achievements are significant and really are to be applauded, but they aren't benefits that are solely attributable to ratepayers.  Possibly the cost savings, originally 10 million, now a little bit more, those are ratepayer benefits.  If that's what we were talking about, we might have a different position.  But we're talking about significant benefits which accrue to all of the stakeholders in this proceeding, including the partners and the ratepayers.  And for that reason, it is our submission that these start-up costs should also be shared amongst the participants in this proceeding.  


I would submit that this proposition is also supported by the east-west tie case that was referenced by Board Staff, essentially that those parties who are setting up the enterprise should also contribute some of the costs to actually creating the entity that will take the project forward.  


So for all of those reasons, it is our submission that the $7.7 million start-up costs should be divided in half and an amount of $3.85 million included into rates.  Those are my submissions on the start-up issue.  


I am going to touch briefly on some of the other issues that Board Staff raised in their submissions, and I would submit that -- or I would just note that I am not going to touch on them all.  If I don't speak to it specifically, we would submit that we're adopting the position advanced by Staff.  


I would just like to start with the deferral accounts and also the unplanned capital spending proposed third-party pass-through and just, first, provide a general comment, which is that, in our submission, the amount of deferral account protection that's proposed in this application seems to us to be excessive, given the amount of risk that's actually being assumed. 


However, we do accept and -- accept the merits of the position that, in the event of a significant storm or some totally unanticipated event which creates significant capital costs, that there would be reason to revisit having -- that there is some mechanism required to account for that type of scenario. 


And CME's position in that regard is that the proposal advanced by Board Staff is the best way of addressing that issue, which is to create some form of Z-factor type policy, which would essentially set out some parameters which would govern an application by the applicant for an increased amount. 


So, again, that would be -- the event would be unplanned; it would be uncontrollable; and it would be material.  We submit that the materiality threshold of $200,000 of revenue requirement is appropriate in this case.  


We differ from Board Staff on the submissions relating to cost of capital.  CME supports the applicant's proposal for an annual adjustment for cost of capital, and we are, in fact, anticipating an adjustment to reflect the 2016 cost of capital parameters which were recently released by the Board.  We are also in agreement with the tax rate deferral account for the reasons outlined by Board Staff.  


Finally, with respect to efficiencies, generally speaking, it is our position -- it is CME's position that ratepayers should have the opportunity to share in efficiencies, if they are achieved.  And, in this regard, it is our submission that the $120,000 annual stretch factor,  which has been proposed by Board Staff, is also reasonable.  


Those are all of our submissions in this matter.  Thank you.  


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Next, Mr. Dumka.  


MR. DUMKA:  Thank you.  

Submissions by Mr. Dumka:

MR. DUMKA:  I have scratched out my argument as we went through the various, you know, submissions, and it has all come back together again, unfortunately, so I'm not going to be as short as I thought I was going to be a short while ago. 


Just to cut to the chase, my client, the Society, supports B2M in its request to recover the $7.7 million of start-up and development costs.  In particular, I would like to point to the 2014 costs which were not anticipated to be -- to occur, simply because of the complexities, as I understand it, from the pari passu issue. 


Now, this is something that came up at the very last minute.  This also resulted -- you know, the ongoing negotiations, the legal fees, and everything else.  And from what I can understand with the time chart, we also got some costs, start-up costs, which otherwise would have been in a cost-of-service submission, the energy setup costs which were anticipated to be part of a cost-of-service proceeding along with the Hydro One initial costs. 


I assume -- we didn't get any cross-examination on this.  I didn't ask -- I assume these costs went ahead in anticipation that this issue, this legal issue with the financing would be resolved before the end of 2014.  So this Board would have received a Cost-of-Service application including those costs.  So I perhaps am being light-handed, but I think those costs in 2014 are particularly justified due to the circumstances. 


Now, to step back, we heard from Mr. Smith with regards to the impacts of the Bruce-to-Milton project which went ahead.  And my concern with this -- and it is all part of the bigger issue that we're dealing with -- the SON worked closely with Hydro One before there was a legal partnership.  The two parties came together and worked, I would say, as an informal partnership in terms of the Bruce-to-Milton line being constructed and put into service.

And if I step back, looking at this just as a member of the Ontario population, I think there's an obligation to ratepayers to acknowledge the effort that SON and Hydro One went to, to get this line built.  And I see it, perhaps incorrectly, and not with the legalese of my friends.  I see there is an obligation now on the shoulders of ratepayers to ensure that the costs incurred -- and I would say prudently incurred -- to put this partnership together through the 2012 and 2014 period legally, those costs should be returned, should be fully funded, because we wouldn't have this partnership if the two parties had not worked together informally or from a legal sense to get this line built.  


So, from my perspective, as a person in this province, I think we do have a moral obligation to allow these parties to get a return on those costs. 


So that is sort of the broad picture that I am taking as opposed to some of the finer points that my friends have put forward, and I don't deny them.  I am persuaded by Mr. Rogers' argument in terms of the appropriateness of these costs being included and all that sort of stuff from a legal matter.  But, again, I think, from a big-picture perspective, that's what we should be considering in this one rare circumstance, which may become more common, which is accommodating the parties to get to this end. 


And at the end of the day, we've got a line that was built on time.  The ratepayers did not have the risk of those OPA contracts blowing up in their faces and paying for power which could not be delivered.  Nobody here can estimate that.  But that is a real benefit for ratepayers, and we're talking numbers which could far exceed the numbers around even the cost of the line. 


I can't estimate that.  Mr. Smith gave us a ballpark impact of, if this project was delayed when it was partially built, like the Niagara reinforcement project, what the annual interest cost could be, so that is something more easily guesstimated or whatever else. 


But this is really -- when we look at it, what is being delivered here is a massive line, the first new line, transmission line, in Ontario in decades, and it was done on time and within budget.  And, again, it is because of these two parties working together. 


And just to -- you know, not to ramble on again, I think we have to take a look at it from the big picture.  Maybe deferral accounts should have been requested or whatever else.  One could counter that with the anticipation that this partnership would be in place a lot sooner, and there would have been a cost-of-service application in front of this Board perhaps even in 2013.  We don't know because of the timing. 


And I say, again, we should look at the big picture.  Of course there is the tax savings to ratepayers.  They're going to happen.  The last estimate that we got was $24 million before the development start-up costs, which are now $7.7 million.  So we do have a net benefit -- net present value benefit to ratepayers, thanks to this partnership, of roughly $16, $17 million, which, in scale, is far smaller than the value of getting this project done on time, but, still, ratepayers are getting the direct benefit of that going forward. 


So if we're looking at it from a fairness perspective, you know, symmetry, economics, et cetera, I think the case is there for these costs being recovered.  


Anyway, that is all I have to say.  Thank you for the opportunity to address this. 


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


Okay.  Just a brief comment on the next steps.  The remaining step is for me to enter -- filing reply submission. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes. 


DR. ELSAYED:  And we're suggesting two weeks from today, which will be November 13 for that -- 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's satisfactory --


DR. ELSAYED:  Is that okay?


MR. ROGERS:  If we can get it done sooner, we will file it sooner. 


DR. ELSAYED:  If you get it done sooner, that's fine, but let's say by November 13. 


MR. ROGERS:  That is excellent.


DR. ELSAYED:  So unless there are any other comments, I would just like to thank everybody for coming here on a Friday afternoon.  I wish everybody a good weekend.  Thank you.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:53 p.m.
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